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About this Report

The Institute of Marine Affairs (IMA) Annual Report 2018-2019 has been prepared in accordance with 
section 66 A-D of the Constitution of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and in accordance with Section 11 
1-G of Act No. 13 of 1990 entitled the Institute of Marine Affairs Act.

For more information concerning this annual report contact:

Director
Institute of Marine Affairs
Hilltop Lane
Chaguaramas
P. O. Box 3160
E-mail: imadirector@ima.gov.tt

Please visit our website at www.ima.gov.tt to access an electronic version of our annual report. We also 
welcome your feedback and encourage you to submit your comments to imadirector@ima.gov.tt
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VISION STATEMENT
To be the premier marine research organisation in the Caribbean.

MISSION STATEMENT

To conduct and foster research and to provide advice for the sustainable management of the coastal and
marine areas and resources of Trinidad and Tobago.

The IMA is mandated to collect, analyse and disseminate data and information relating to the economic, 
technological, environmental, social and legal developments in marine affairs generally, and to formulate 

and implement specific programmes and projects to achieve its overall objectives. 
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CHAIRMAN’S REMARKS
The Institute of Marine Affairs (IMA) is pleased to share our 2018-2019 
Annual Report.  This report provides a detailed account of our 
performance during fiscal 2019: our strategic direction; key areas of 
our research; and outreach activities.  It also details our many efforts 
to increase value for our stakeholders and contribute to marine and 
coastal conservation in Trinidad and Tobago.

The Board of Governors initiated its strategic planning process in 
2018, which culminated in a blueprint to guide the progress of the 
organisation from 2019-2024. The Strategic Plan is predicated on two 
pillars: Efficiency and Growth; both built on an over-arching plank of 

Improving Longterm Stakeholder Value for our main stakeholder, the Government and people of Trinidad and 
Tobago.  The Institute recognises that the relevance of any organisation is not only in the value it offers; but 
more specifically in the value its stakeholders perceives it brings to the table.  

Trinidad and Tobago has not been exempt from the environmental challenges experienced worldwide. 
Increasing global temperatures, erratic weather conditions, unprecedented amounts of marine pollution, 
depleting fish stock are but a small list of environmental issues that are impacting communities globally. For 
Small Island Developing States (SIDS) to fully appreciate the impact of climate change on its territories, more 
research must be undertaken and the Institute is rising to the task, to provide the data our Government needs 
to address our own coastal and marine environmental challenges. 

The research demands are much more than any national purse can sustain, be it in the developed or developed 
world. To sustain the level of research output that the Institute identifies will be required to provide the 
necessary policy advice to address the issues before us, the Institute recognises that they will have to do more 
with less. The Efficiency Pillar will, therefore, be buffered by supporting tactics of cost reduction, taking a value 
for money approach in the expenditure of government funds and optimisation of the resources already in 
the Institute’s possession.  Our Growth Pillar is undergirded by tactics that promote the expansion of revenue 
generation opportunities and access to grant funding coupled with the development of strategic partnerships 
(domestic and international) to support the capacity of the organisation to deliver enhanced value to the 
nation.   And  the harnessing of Communication Technologies (ICT) is a critical cog in the machinery that will 
achieve the efficiencies we desire.

The IMA’s Strategic Plan is in full alignment with the National Development Strategy of the Government of 
the Republic Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT). Pillar five of the GORTT plan sites Placing the Environment at the 
Centre of Socio-Economic Development and the United Nation’s Sustainable Development Goals.

In essence, the five-year strategic plan aims to intensify the research capacity of the organisation, keeping 
abreast with international standards in the areas of surveillance, monitoring, evaluation and conservation of 
our coastal and marine environments; bolstered most ably by ICT.  We aim to strengthen collaboration with 
stakeholders to maximise internal resources and improve internal processes.

The Board is confident that its Management Team will chart that way to success, dotting the landscape with 
key milestones that will signpost our road to success!

Mr. Hayden Alexander
Chairman, Board of Governors
Institute of Marine Affairs 
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DIRECTOR’S REMARKS

On behalf of the Board of Governors, Management and Staff, I am 
pleased to present our Institute of Marine Affairs Annual Report 
2018-2019.  This report provides an insight into the activities and 
accomplishments achieved under the reporting period, which have 
pushed us closer to our vision, “To be the Centre of Expertise for 
Marine Scientific Research in the Caribbean Region.”
 
Guided by the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) 
Number 14 – Life Under Water and the Government’s National Vision 
2030 Sustainable Development Goals, the IMA developed its Strategic 

Plan 2019-2024 which was approved by the Board of Governors in Fiscal 2019.  Though awaiting government 
approval, the plan charts a course of action up to 2024 which would facilitate developing and strengthening 
strategic partnerships, generating knowledge-based marine environmental data and information, building 
capacity, applying effective communication strategies and disseminating evidence-based and policy relevant 
information.

Reduced funding curtailed some of the planned research activity and researchers spent their time analysing 
the data that was previously collected and finalised outstanding reports. Ecosystem health is, however, 
crucial for human wellbeing and sustainable development at the macro level; therefore, some monitoring 
and observation continued. Research and monitoring continued for ecosystems such as mangrove forests, 
seagrass beds and coral reefs. In Tobago, an exhaustive assessment was done on the various reef structures 
across the islands, reviewing the health of the reefs and examining the ability of the reef to survive either 
natural stressors or those posed by climate change. Sampling and analysis continued at several of the beaches 
in Trinidad and Tobago to inform relevant authorities on the status of beach. And water quality monitoring at 
popular recreational sites continued as it is an important contribution to the maintenance of human health.  
Research reports for water quality at Maracas Beach and beaches in north-west Tobago were finalised and 
submitted to the managing authorities.  Preparatory work was undertaken to support the implementation 
of a Mari-culture facility for research into the cage rearing of salt-water species of commercial fish. The aim; 
enhanced food security and reduction of the national the food import bill.  Key highlights are detailed in the 
following pages in this report.

The results of our review of the coastal and marine environment over the past two years were detailed in a 
report. The State of the Marine Environment (SOME) 2018 of Trinidad and Tobago. The data contained in the 
report also contributes to the annual State of Environment Reporting that is published by the Environmental 
Management Authority (EMA) and adds to the international body of marine scientific knowledge.  

Throughout fiscal 2019, the Information Centre continued to communicate and disseminate research results 
through various formats and media and encouraged the conservation of our marine and coastal resources 
through public awareness initiatives. Themed “Sea and Me: Livelihood and Learning”, the IMA convened its 
Sixth Community Research Symposium on 14th August 2019 at the Carenage Fishing Centre.   The Symposium 
brought together marine scientists, stakeholders, members of the civil society and business community to 
share their insights, experiences and to discuss challenges and concerns. Promoting marine environmental 
literacy, the IMA also staged a Career Fair themed, “Sea and Me: Livelihoods and Learning” at the Carenage 
Fishing Centre on 3rd July 2019.  The Career Fair disseminated information and translated knowledge to 
students within the national school population and budding marine scientists. 

It was also a year for cultivating strategic partnerships with the business community to further the public 
awareness element of our mandate. Sixteen corporate sponsors supported our various initiatives in the 
amount of TTD 35,000.   This enabled the IMA to host for the first time, a truly immersive marine science 
exhibition at the Port of Spain headquarters of the National Library Information Authority System (NALIS) of 
Trinidad and Tobago.  Three dimensional displays, printed materials (posters and brochures), sound design, 
videos, and virtual reality googles for a virtual dive supported the immersive experience offered to members 



IMA Annual Administrative Report  2018 - 2019

x

of the public. Approved by the Ministry of Education, the “Beyond the Blue Marine Science and Environmental 
Exhibition” attracted well over three hundred (300) secondary level students from 15th-17th September 
2019.  An essay competition was also used to evaluate students’ learnings from the engagement.  

The Exhibit took its name from a new radio broadcast series pilot called Beyond the Blue. Targeted at the 
adult population, the fifteen-episode programme aired during morning prime time on most popular radio 
stations in Trinidad and Tobago - I95.5fm Radio 106 Sangeet and Radio Tambrin 92.7fm. The programmes 
were also made available to the Government Information Service for placement in government time on all 
twenty-one radio stations in Trinidad and Tobago.

All our accomplishments would not have been possible without the dedicated aid of fellow managerial 
colleagues and staff.  I thank all of them for their unwavering support and commitment to the task. Together, 
let us keep pushing forward until we accomplish our goals as articulated in our strategic plan: to build long 
term stakeholder value and optimise our resources through a value for money approach to the conduct of 
our business and the access of grant funding to support new programmes and initiatives.

Dr. Ahmad Khan 
Director
Institute of Marine Affairs 
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ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

APIC  Association for the Promotion of International Cooperation
β-gal  Beta-galactosidase
BBNJ   Biodiversity in Areas Beyond National Jurisdiction
BWM  Ballast Water Management 
CARICOMP Caribbean Coastal Marine Productivity
CEHI  Caribbean Environmental Health Institute 
CMA  Caribbean Marine Atlas
CREWS  Coral Reef Early Warning System
EAP  Employee Assistance Programme
F&ARP  Fisheries and Aquaculture Research Programme 
FOI  Freedom of Information
GEF  Global Environment Facility
GEF SGP  Global Environment Facility - Small Grants Programme 
GIS  Geographic Information Systems
IAS  Invasive Alien Species
ICC  International Coastal Cleanup
ICT  Information Communication Technologies
IFPAMTT Improving Forests and Protected Area Management in Trinidad and Tobago
ICRI  International Coral Reef Initiative
ICZM  Integrated Coastal Zone Management
IFREMER Institut français de recherche pour l’exploitation de la mer 
  (French Research Institute for Exploitation of the Sea)
IMA  Institute of Marine Affairs
LB-IMTA  Land-Based Integrated Multi-trophic Aquaculture
LBS  Land-Based Sources
MSP  Marine Spatial Plan
NETMPA  Northeast Tobago Marine Protected Area
NSDI  National Spatial Data Infrastructure
NCCP  National Coastal Conservation Programme
NOSCP  National Oil Spill Contingency Plan
OCP  Oceanography and Coastal Processes Programme 
ONPG  ortho-Nitrophenyl-β-galactoside 
PAHs  Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons 
PBBS  Port Biological Baseline Survey
PLNL  Point Lisas Nitrogen Limited
PSIP  Public Sector Investment Programme
RAS  Recirculating Aquaculture System
SEA  Secondary Entrance Assessment
UNEP  United Nations Environment Programme 
UTT  The University of Trinidad and Tobago
UWI  The University of the West Indies
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INTRODUCTION
The Institute of Marine Affairs is a multi-disciplinary marine research organisation established to conduct 
inter-disciplinary studies by Act of Parliament No. 15 of 1976, Chap. 37:01.  The IMA has pioneered and par-
ticipated in numerous programmes locally and regionally.  Its mission is “to conduct fundamental and applied 
research in the marine and coastal environment so as to provide advice for the sustainable management of 
these natural resources in Trinidad and Tobago.” The 2018/2019 fiscal year focused on strengthening the 
research programmes and building collaboration with national and international partners.  Regrettably, short-
falls in funding stymied progress and consequently many of the research objectives of the IMA could not be 
realised.  Researchers focused on preparing research proposals for grant funding and on completing research 
reports and manuscripts since some fieldwork was temporarily, suspended. 

During the 2018-2019 fiscal, research was conducted under five programmes: Biodiversity and Ecology; Fish-
eries and Aquaculture; Oceanography and Coastal Processes; Environmental Quality and Geomatics.  The 
research fields included but were not limited to:

i. Coastal Geology 
ii. Land-based and marine pollution 
iii. Microbiology
iv. Marine Ecology- benthic, wetlands and coral reef
v. Fish biology
vi. Aquaculture 
vii. Geographic Information System (GIS) 

The work plan of the Research Programme is aligned to the National Vision 2030 Sustainable Development 
Policy and government’s developmental plans.  The unique mandate of the IMA means that the organisation 
is a key implementation stakeholder working towards the realisation of the Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs).  
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RESEARCH PROJECTS
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COASTAL GEOLOGY
A. The NATioNAl CoAsTAl CoNservATioN ProgrAmme (NCCP) 
moNiToriNg ANd AssessmeNT of CoAsTAl ProCesses AloNg shoreliNes wiTh AN 
emPhAsis oN BeACh dyNAmiCs 

The IMA has been monitoring the dynamic nature (erosion and accretion rates, coastal processes) of 
selected beaches and bays throughout Trinidad and Tobago since 1988 under its Coastal Conservation 
Project. Currently twenty-five (25) bays in Trinidad (60 benchmark) and twenty-seven (27) bays in Tobago 
(42 benchmark) are monitored.  Beaches are dynamic coastal features which respond to the coastal 
processes (waves, winds, currents and tides) based on their geology. Where the coastal geology is 
resistant to wave attack, erosion may occur at a reduced rate (Cambers, 2009) and where it is more 
susceptible, it may erode at a faster rate (Van Rijn, 1998). In Trinidad, the north coast is mainly rocky 
cliff, while the west coast which is rocky at the northern end, consists of wetlands and mudflat at its 
central region and alluvium material toward the southern end. The south coast is comprised of sandstone 
cliff, and the east coast is varied with rocky cliffs at the northern end, wetlands and sandstone cliffs at 
the central and southern areas. In Tobago, the coastline consists mainly of rocky cliff to the central and 
northeast of the island with coral limestone in the southwest.   During the 2018-2019 fiscal, training was 
obtained through the Association of Caribbean States, under Cuban technical guidance on soft 
techniques used in beach stabilisation. 
Principal Researcher: Christopher Alexis

B. NCCP-loNg Term eNviroNmeNTAl moNiToriNg ANd AssessmeNT iN TriNidAd 
ANd ToBAgo-lANd BAsed sourCes of PolluTioN

At a Wider Caribbean Regional Workshop on ‘Assessment of Land Based Sources of Pollution and 
Methodologies in Land Based Sources’ held Venezuela in 2005, representatives identified the need to 
establish an environmental monitoring project for the assessment of land-based sources of marine 
pollution.  

This project aims to establish ongoing monitoring of coastal and marine ecosystems to provide timely 
information on the environmental status and impacts of land-based sources of pollution in Trinidad and 
Tobago. The information from these studies is channeled to decision makers to effect policy change that 
would preserve natural environments and improve the quality of life of citizens. Results of the monitoring 
programme in Trinidad have revealed hotspot areas that contain excessive and elevated pollution levels 
which in turn can be used to determine environmental risks to aquatic life, and by extension human 
health.

This project is aligned to the National Vision 2030 Sustainable Development Policy, and government 
developmental plans.  The project will also ensure the realisation of the Sustainable Development Goal 
No.14, Life under Water, by providing key data on meeting SDG target 14.1 on marine pollution from 
land-based activities and marine debris. This data will facilitate action to be taken at the national level 
that will promote the sustainable use and conservation of the ocean.

During the 2018/2019 fiscal period, sampling was put on hold due to funding constraints. However, 
researchers worked to prepare a research report entitled “A focus on water quality in the Gulf of Paria 
from Diego Martin to Pt Lisas” which was submitted for external review based on monitoring of marine 
areas in the Gulf of Paria at locations including Claxton Bay, Pt Lisas, Caroni and at the estuarine areas in 
Port of Spain, Maraval and Diego Martin.
Principal Researcher: Dr. Darryl Banjoo
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MARINE ECOLOGY
C. NCCP-CorAl reef moNiToriNg

In July 2019, IMA conducted ecological surveys at the ten monitoring sites around Tobago. The monitoring 
sites spanned the full natural environmental range, where shallow coral reefs are found around Tobago. 
Three types of ecological surveys were carried out for a full understanding of the ecological condition of 
each reef site: (1) photographic surveys to identify the composition of the reef benthic community, (2) 
underwater photogrammetry surveys to characterise the structural complexity of the coral reef and 
therefore their ability to harbour biodiversity, and (3) reef fish community surveys, which is also a 
determinant of coral reef health. In addition to ecological surveys, water quality measurements at each 
site were taken as part of a quarterly sampling cycle. All ecological data are being processed, while 
physical and socio-economic data are being collated through desktop studies to build a profile for each 
coral reef site around Tobago. Initial observations of the benthic data are consistent with previous 
monitoring surveys carried out, which showed distinct community types on the Caribbean and Atlantic 
reef sites. Many reefs are dominated by one or two species of coral reef builders, which makes them 
extremely vulnerable to disturbances. 

The underwater imagery collection of the IMA was updated during this fiscal under the umbrella of the 
Maritime Ocean Collection Project. The underwater imagery collection consists of a series of reef 
scenes, reef and fish organisms that are common to Tobago’s coral reefs that can be used for multiple 
purposes: educational outreach; presentations and publications. Thirty sites around Tobago were dived, 
including popular dive sites with iconic reef entities, such as the giant brain coral in Speyside, but also 
more remote and pristine dive sites that are home to endangered coral species, such as the elkhorn and 
staghorn corals, and other reef life. The images are currently being catalogued and tagged so that it is 
aligned to the IMA Reference Collection which is in the process of being digitised. 
Principal Researchers: Dr. Anjani Ganase 

mAriNe refereNCe ColleCTioN

The Marine Reference Collection is of national, regional and global significance in terms of its unique 
contents and relationship to world-wide taxonomic holdings. The collection provides a physical snapshot 
of a species or community at a particular point in time and space. It is this physical record that makes 
the collection so valuable because DNA cannot be extracted from a photograph and a physical specimen 
can provide a wealth of unexpected information. In 2017, the Marine Reference Collection was relocated 
to a more suitable space and maintenance and re-cataloguing of specimens have been ongoing, An in-
house database for researchers to access the Collection is being developed.  Once all the specimens are 
catalogued, it is the intention of the IMA to make the collection public on an international website called 
Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF) (https://www.gbif.org/).  In August 2019, training in 
Museology and Museum Management was obtained from the National Museum Institute of India with 
the intent of building the human resource capacity in readiness for the expansion of the existing 
collection at IMA.  The IMA is also collaborating with Dr Ray McCarthy from the University of Florida, 
who is providing technical advice and training. 
Principal Researcher: Alana Jute

survey of BeNThiC mACrofAuNA, BoN ACCord lAgooN, ToBAgo

Seagrass beds are ecologically important marine resources as they provide an array of services essential 
to a productive marine environment. Seagrasses are known to create more habitat spaces for 
macrobenthic invertebrates as well as increase the available resources. The seagrass community of Bon 
Accord Lagoon covers an area of approximately 102 hectares and extends in some places to a depth of 
approximately 6 metres. Turtle grass, T. testudinum, is the dominant seagrass species in the Lagoon. 
Benthic macrofauna were collected during two sampling periods, dry and wet seasons of 2018 (March 
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and September respectively) using a hand-held PVC corer. A total of 4,822 organisms belonging to 211 
different species were recorded across both sampling periods. Seasonal variations, attributable to 
nutrient inflow within the Lagoon, were found among the macrobenthic populations at some stations 
sampled.  The data was compared to a previous macrobenthic survey conducted in 2007.
Principal Researcher: Attish Kanhai

BACTeriAl CommuNiTy ANAlysis of Three CoAsTAl eCosysTems (CorAl reef, 
mANgrove swAmP, ANd seAgrAss Bed) iN BoN ACCord, ToBAgo

The bacterial community plays an important role in the biogeochemical dynamics of marine ecosystems. 
Microorganisms, which are unique to each ecosystem, underpin most of the geochemical cycles that 
were once previously thought to be driven by inorganic processes. The microorganisms function by 
forming symbiotic relationships with eukaryotes, communicating with other microorganisms, acquiring 
nutrients and producing energy.  Coastal ecosystems are currently under threat from pollution, diseases 
and climate change; therefore, the need for intervention is vital. This project investigates the microbial 
communities under diverse conditions to identify the beneficial organisms needed for healthy growth so 
as to withstand environmental impacts.  Conducted in collaboration with the University of the West 
Indies, St Augustine Campus, this project would be the foundation for further work which would involve 
growing the beneficial microorganisms and using them to rehabilitate degraded ecosystems. 
Principal Researcher: Sheldon Ramoutar

GEOMATICS
CAriBBeAN mAriNe ATlAs

The Caribbean Marine Atlas (CMA) is an online digital technological platform that serves as a repository 
of geospatial and documental information to support decision-making in Integrated Coastal Zone 
Management (ICZM) and for the monitoring and evaluation of large marine ecosystems in the Caribbean. 
The Atlas’ content is intended for technocrats in planning at government ministries, authorities at 
national and regional levels, decision-makers, policymakers, and stakeholders working with ICZM in the 
Caribbean. The design of the Atlas promotes the self-management of information by providing 
operational training in each country. It contains large spatial datasets, thematic and indicator datasets 
for Trinidad and Tobago and countries of the Caribbean. As of September 2019; the CMA contained 1100 
spatial data layers and 85 documents. The CMA was fully operationalised in June 2019 and the next 
stage of the project is in development. 
Principal Researcher: Hamish Asmath

sPATiAl mAPPiNg of The liviNg ANd NoN-liviNg CoAsTAl resourCes of TriNidAd 
ANd ToBAgo

This project involves the creation of a web-based spatial data warehousing and management system at 
the IMA. The system incorporates and integrates all spatial data and metadata into one practical, 
searchable, catalogued database yielding viable and practical products for both internal and external 
users. It will improve the scope, effectiveness, efficiency of studies being conducted as well as support 
the development of research ideas.  The spatial data and products can be accessed via an intranet web-
based system, with a user-friendly presentation dashboard. This system will provide coastal and marine 
environmental spatial data which will satisfy our National Spatial Data Infrastructure and contribute 
towards regional and international reporting obligations such as the Sustainable Develop Goals.  
Principal Researcher: Hamish Asmath
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hydrologiCAl sTudy of The CAroNi river BAsiN To deTermiNe The TrANsPorT 
ANd fATe of lANd-BAsed sourCes of PolluTANTs ANd To resTore freshwATer 
hABiTATs

Caribbean river basins are generally of comparatively small size because of the predominance of island 
areas and thus adverse impacts are characterised by a short response time from land-use activities to 
coastal responses.  Land-based pollution from both point and non-point sources and activities within 
coastal watersheds, impact on coastal areas and on the quality of the food harvested from these areas.  
In order to mitigate and control the impact of pollution on coastal and marine resources and by extension 
on human health, it is essential that the type and load of pollutants be identified. This involves 
determination of the sources and their location, and the volume and concentration of the pollutants. 

The Caroni River Basin, the hydrometric area that encompasses Caroni Swamp, covers a total of about 
883.4 km2, which is equivalent to 22% of the land surface area of the island. The Caroni River Basin is 
the most populated and developed area of Trinidad.  The hydrological regime in this river basin has been 
altered to facilitate human habitation and activities, including water harvesting for human consumption, 
flood mitigation and irrigation for agriculture.    The Caroni and associated Rivers discharge into the 
Caroni Swamp, the largest mangrove forest in Trinidad.  The Swamp is important economically for oyster 
and fish harvesting, hunting and ecotourism. 

This study is modelling the hydrological regime within the Caroni Basin to determine the transport and 
fate of land-based pollutants particularly heavy metals and bacteria.  It examines the land-sea interface 
and identifies the impact of sea level rise (salt-water intrusion) on the coastal ecosystems.  The results 
will be used to develop a restoration plan for freshwater plants communities within Caroni Swamp, 
thereby conserving biodiversity.
Principal Researcher: Hamish Asmath
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FISHERIES AND AQUACULTURE 

A. mAriCulTure reseArCh iNfrAsTruCTure develoPmeNT

Trinidad and Tobago’s National Development Strategy 2016-2030 highlights the need for economic 
transformation as energy revenues are insufficient to sustain and improve citizens’ quality of life. There 
is also a need for the country to promote local food production to reduce the country’s high food 
importation bill.  

The development of the mariculture sector, therefore, presents an opportunity for economic 
diversification. However this development must be data-driven, paying due regard to environmental 
concerns and livelihood impacts.

Internationally, declining fisheries with a concomitant increasing demand for seafood, has led to 
aquaculture’s promotion as a strategy to fill the supply gap. Growth in aquaculture production has been 
in freshwater production. However, there has been a recent push to increase the production of marine 
species in inland, coastal and offshore systems. The development of sustainable aquaculture is  linked to 
many of the 17 goals outlined under the United Nations’ 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 
Namely, SDG 1 (end poverty). 2 (end hunger), 5 (gender), 6 (water), 8 (growth, employment, decent 
work), 12 (production and consumption), 13 (climate change), 14 (marine resources and ecosystems) 
and 15 (biodiversity).

In an effort to increase its capacity to conduct mariculture research with both domestic and global 
impetus, the IMA invested in new infrastructure. In fiscal year 2018/2019 the IMA made all the necessary 
arrangements for the construction of a Mariculture Wet Laboratory within the IMA’s Aquaculture Facility. 
The approximately 4000 sq. ft. laboratory will be used to study a variety of marine fin-fish and shellfish 
species. Observation of these species’: growth; behaviour; environmental tolerances; reproductive 
biology; and other parameters will be possible. The laboratory will consist of a large open space with a 
few recirculating aquaculture systems. Supporting infrastructure within the main laboratory will also be 
constructed. These include feed preparation, water quality, and histology laboratories, a control room 
and storage rooms. The results of research conducted within this laboratory will provide crucial biological 
and economic data, which can provide information to develop the mariculture sector. Construction of 
the lab structure commenced in September 2019 and is expected to be completed in November 2019. 
The lab is expected to be operationalised in early 2020. 
Principal Researcher: Daniel Robinson

B. siTe suiTABiliTy for mAriNe CAge CulTure: 

During the fiscal period 2018/2019 work into the identification of sites most suitable for the near-shore 
and offshore cage culture of fin-fish and shellfish in the coastal and marine environment of Trinidad and 
Tobago was carried out. This is being done through the use of a multiple criteria geo-spatial analysis 
which entails looking at a variety of datasets that directly and indirectly impact suitability. The parameters 
include depth, substrate type, oceanographic conditions and water quality. This information is crucial 
due to the variety of ecosystems along the coasts within the waters of Trinidad and Tobago as well as 
current human activities which can potentially create user conflicts, namely: oil and gas; maritime; and 
fishing activities. All relevant datasets required were acquired and are in the final stages of processing. 
Once completed, multi-criteria analysis will be undertaken and recommendations made.
Principal Researcher: Daniel Robinson
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MULTI-DISCIPLINARY PROJECTS

State of the Marine Environment Report (2018)

Overview 
The IMA produced the first State of the Marine Environment Report (SOME) in 2016 and Cabinet in 2017 
mandated the preparation of biennial SOME Reports.  The SOME 2018 Report was produced in January 
2019 and provides a scientifically based assessment of the condition of Trinidad and Tobago’s coastal 
and marine ecosystems, habitats and species, which are extremely important for its development and 
sustainability especially as it relates to fostering the Blue Economy.  It also details how the status of 
these resources have been and are being affected by the range of natural and human pressures to which 
they are subjected.   Land-based sources of pollution and climate change impacts are but a few of the 
elements impacting coastal and marine environments. The SOME 2018 highlights some of the policy 
interventions and projects that were developed and implemented to address environmental degradation 
and climate change impacts. It also presents some insight into the trajectory of the marine and coastal 
environment if the ‘business as usual’  scenario is perpetuated. 

Caribbean Large Marine Environment + (CLME +) Ecosystem 
Based Management (EBM) Project 

A Small-Scale Funding Agreement was signed with The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) 
on October 15th 2018, whicih enables the IMA to conduct the Trinidad component of the regional 
CLME+ EBM Project.  The CLME + sub-project seeks to develop and test various governance arrangements 
that would enable effective ecosystem-based management (EBM) of mangrove forests. It will do this in 
the context of multilevel (local to regional) governance arrangements that will be developed via a series 
of interactive, focused, multi-stakeholder consultations, and the implementation of community-based 
conservation interventions. These interventions will be designed to mitigate pollution and their impacts 
within coastal mangroves and wetlands within the North Brazil Shelf Large Marine Ecosystem (NBSLME).

The goal of the Trinidad project is to reduce pollution from agriculture in the southern section of the 
Caroni Swamp Ramsar Site (Guayamara and Cunupia Watersheds) through implementation of 
community-based conservation interventions.  Food crop farmers are an important stakeholder group 
deriving livelihoods from ecosystems located in the Caroni River Basin (CRB), and contributing to national 
food security. One of the main sources of nutrient pollution found to enter the southern side of Caroni 
Swamp are from agricultural sources such as manure and fertiliser. Combined with agrochemicals, this 
mix undermines downstream ecosystems which support habitats including those for another important 
element of national food security, the fisheries associated with the Caroni Swamp.

A “Coastal Custodianship Survey 2019: Farmers” was conducted in 2019.  The survey provides information 
on the farmer, their holdings, types of crops grown in the wet and dry season and the main types and 
quantities of fertiliser applied in wet and dry season. It also noted the types of pest and the agri-
chemicals applied to manage the risks associated with their farming practices.  Attitudes to impacts of 
fertiliser and agri-chemicals on the riparian environment and perceptions of the impact of agricultural 
activity on the health of the Caroni Swamp were recorded.  The results of this survey were shared with 
the Life Science Department, UWI, St Augustine, where they will develop and implement a series of 
workshops on the judicious use of pesticides and fertilisers. The University will also provide pollution 
sensitisation training for farmers operating in the watersheds draining into the Caroni Swamp and 
undertaking demonstration project with farmers.

Work completed includes water quality sampling at 17 sites in the Guayamare Cunupia study area; 
determination of bacterial levels in the water and oysters at the Caroni Swamp; heavy metal analysis of 
crab samples and a detailed mapping of the study area.  
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FAO/ IPAMTT Project – Development of Monitoring Protocols 
for Caroni and Nariva Swamp and the proposed NE Tobago 
Marine Protected Areas

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations is implementing the Global 
Environment Facility (GEF) funded four-year project, Improving Forest and Protected Area Management 
in Trinidad and Tobago (IFPAMTT) on behalf of the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. 
The overall project goal is to conserve globally important biodiversity in Trinidad and Tobago. The 
IFPAMTT Project is being implemented in six pilot protected areas (PAs) and a key project output is 
management plans for these PAs.  Essential to the management plans are monitoring protocols. 

FAO has engaged IMA to develop monitoring protocols for the Caroni Swamp, Nariva Swamp and 
Northeast Tobago Marine Protected Area (NETMPA) using a participatory approach, stakeholder 
engagement and consensus building.  In developing the monitoring protocols, the IMA conducted a 
comprehensive literature review for the three pilot PAs, a risk assessment based on the threats identified 
to biodiversity conservation in the Management Plan for each pilot PA, and identified criteria for the 
selection of indicators/indicator species, and a list of potential indicators/indicator species for each 
proposed PA.  Once the list of indicators/indicator species are agreed to by the stakeholders, monitoring 
protocols would be developed for each indicator per PA site.

Point Lisas Nitrogen Limited Mangrove Monitoring 

Point Lisas Nitrogen Limited (PLNL) operates a 600,000 tonnes per annum ammonia production facility 
north of Couva River/Carli Bay, on the western coast of Trinidad. It lies on approximately 22.3 ha of land 
formerly used for sugarcane cultivation, east of the Couva River mangrove forest.  IMA began monitoring 
the mangrove forest west of the PLNL facility in 1998 after the Plant became operational.  In 2018, IMA 
was again contracted by PLNL to monitor the mangrove forest west of the plant site.  This monitoring 
programme is conducted bi-annually, in the dry season and in the wet season.

Laborie Development Foundation 

The Laborie Development Foundation contracted the IMA to develop the Terms of Reference for a study 
of the Laborie Bay, St Lucia that would identify the measures and actions needed to combat coastal 
erosion and reduce the vulnerability to sea level rise, storms and other extreme climate events.   
This was completed in August 2019.
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Officers of the Research Department represented the IMA in a number of workshops, committees, and 
international meetings. There were also publications for the period. The following details what was 
accomplished for the period.

NATIONAL WORKSHOPS
Researchers of the Institute represented the IMA at the following workshops:

• Final National Workshop for the Project, “Development of Minamata Initial Assessment in 
the Caribbean” in Port of Spain October 9, 2018 (D. Banjoo; W. Nelson).

• BPTT Sustainable Fisheries Management Workshop, 3rd October 2018, Port of Spain, 
Trinidad (F. Solomon, R. Juman, R. Kishore).

• IMO National Workshop on Oil Spill Contingency Planning and Readiness Evaluation Tool for 
Oil Spills, Port of Spain, 22 -24 October 2018 (D. Banjoo, W. Nelson). 

• Enhancing National Health Standards in Aquaculture Systems (ENHSAS): Increasing 
Aquaculture Productivity, Improving Industry Sustainability and Reducing Deleterious 
Aquatic Habitats Impacts - November 21st to 23rd, 2018 (D. Robinson, J. King, S. Ramoutar)

• Nature Based Coastal Protection Methods Workshop, Ministry of Works and Transport 
MoWT), Port of Spain 22nd – 25th January (C. Alexis)

• Ecological Risk Assessment Workshop for the Gulf of Paria, Environmental Management 
Authority’s Port-of-Spain Office. January 23 - 24, 2019 (R. Juman, D. Banjoo).

• Ministry of Trade and Industry Workshop on Sustainable Environmental Practices for Marinas 
and Boatyards in Trinidad, IMA, Chaguaramas, 6 February 2019 (W. Nelson). 

• Comprehensive National Coastal Monitoring Programme Training Workshop facilitated by 
Coastal Protection Unit, MOWT, Port of Spain, 5th-7th February 2019 (C. Alexis) 

• ISO/IEC 17025:2017- General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration 
laboratories 11-13th February 2019 (K. Williams)

• MoPD/UNFCCC Greenhouse Gas Inventorying Quality Assurance and Control Training 
Workshop, Port of Spain, 11- 15 February 2019 (W. Nelson; D. Banjoo; K. Williams).

• Awareness raising in Proposal Writing and project development for Government personnel 
– IFPAMTT Project – February 26th 2019 (K. Hassanali, H. Asmath). 

• Launch of Knowledge Management System (KMS) and Pilot Project for the National Climate 
Mitigation Monitoring, Reporting and Verification (MRV) System in Port-of-Spain March 12, 
2019 (D. Banjoo).  

• Technical Report Writing   - UTT Campus, Chaguanas - 26th-28th March 2019 (S. Ramoutar; 
D. Robinson; A. Jute).

• Validation Workshop for the 6th National Report for the Convention on Biological Diversity 
25th April, 2019 (H. Asmath).

• Workshop Session for the Development of National Performance Framework 2017-2020 
Supplemental Indicators Booklet, Port of Spain, 10th May 2019,  (R. Kishore F. Solomon).

• Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA): On-farm technology for water 
purification (microbial and chemical) with a self-sustaining (off-the-grid) energy supply. May 
13th 2019 (S. Ramoutar).
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• Vulnerability and Adaptation (V&A) Assessment of the Coastal Resources of Trinidad and 
Tobago. Training Workshop, Environmental Management Authority, Port of Spain- 16 July, 
2019 (A. Kanhai; H. Asmath)

• Stakeholder Workshop on the presentation of this CC4FISH project. July 22nd 2019 (R. 
Kishore, F. Solomon).

• EMA’s Water Management Workshop facilitated by the USEPA Region 4, EMA South Office, 
19-20, 22-23 August 2019 (W. Nelson).

• Second Meeting of the Household Waste Partnership Working Group, Port of Spain, 4-6 
September 2019 (W. Nelson).

• Stakeholder Workshop on CLME+ Project - National Consultations on the Ecosystem 
Approach to Fisheries (EAF) and Fisheries Management Planning (FMP) for the Shrimp and 
Groundfish in the Guianas-Brazil Region, Trinidad 12-13 September 2019 (R. Kishore).

EXTERNAL MEETINGS

• Sixth (6th) National Working Group (NWG) meeting of the REBYC - II LAC Regional Project, 
29th November 2018 (R. Kishore). 

• REBYC - II LAC Regional Project.  PGIS Meeting 29th January 2019 (R. Kishore; F. Solomon). 

• Fish Mercury Bio-monitoring Project done by BCRC Caribbean, for Trinidad and Tobago and 
through consultation with the EPPD and the MPD, Port of Spain, January 29th 2019 (W. 
Nelson; D. Banjoo). 

• 7th Meeting of the National Working Group/Trawl Multi-Sectoral Committee for By-catch 
Management and Promotion of Alternative Livelihood Strategies in the Shrimp Trawl Fishery 
in Trinidad and Tobago (REBYC II-LAC), Ministry of Agriculture, Land and Fisheries (MALF), 
Chaguanas, 20th February 2019, (F. Solomon).

• USAID new program in coastal and marine biodiversity programming in T&T and Caribbean 
at Ministry of Planning and Development Conference Room at Level 7, Tower C, the 
Waterfront Complex, Friday 22nd February 2019

• Steering Committee meeting for the 6th National Report to the CBD on Tuesday 26th 
February 2019 at Tower C, Waterfront Complex (A. Kanhai).

• Blue Economy Roundtable Discussion at the Invitation of Her Excellency Carla Hogan Ruffle’s, 
High Commissioner for Canada to Trinidad and Tobago, Port of Spain, 28th March 2019, (F. 
Solomon).

• Vulnerability and adaptation Assessment Focus Group session on Friday 29th March 2019 
(A. Kanhai).

• Focus Group Session on Agriculture (Crop and Livestock) & Terrestrial Biodiversity sectors in 
preparation for the country to submit its Third National Communication (TNC) and First 
Biennial Update Report (BUR) to the United Nations Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 
Port of Spain - 29th March 2019 (R. Kishore).

• Presentation of the Findings from the “Technical Assistance to the Environment Program in 
Trinidad and Tobago” for Climate Change Vulnerability and Capacity Assessment Report, 
April 3rd 2019, Hilton Trinidad and Conference Centre (A. Kanhai).

• Atlas Project - Skype interview with Christine Gaebel on “Understanding the Science-Policy 
interface of ABNJ Governance: Achieving evidence based management of ABMT at an ocean 
basin scale” – April 26th (K. Hassanali).
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• Public Consultation for the Establishment of the Toco Port Facility. Toco Regional Complex- 
12 April 2019 (B. Maharaj).

• Earth Day Stakeholder Forum hosted by Caribbean Bottlers, Adopt-a-River Programme, 
SWMCOL, 25 April 2019, Green Meadows Estate, Santa Cruz (W. Nelson).

• National Health Research Ethics Policy consultation – April 29th (K. Hassanali).

• UTT publication and presentation on “Source apportionment and seasonal cancer risk of 
PAHs of sediments in multi-use coastal environment containing a Ramsar wetland in a 
Caribbean Island” Scarlet Ibis room, Ministry of Agriculture, Land and Fisheries: Chaguanas 
17th May, 2019 (D. Banjoo; R. Kishore).

• Teleconference call with CAR / RCU UNEP and working group members of the LBS protocol 
on 9th May; 23rd July 2019 (D. Banjoo).

• Meeting with the Honourable Minister Fitzgerald Hinds, Fisherfolks and Community Groups 
in Las Cuevas, 4th July 2019, Las Cuevas Fish Landing Site (R. Juman, R. Kishore F. Solomon). 

• GEF National Dialogue, 11th July 2019, FAO, POS (D. Banjoo).

• Climate Change Adaptation in the Eastern Caribbean Fisheries Sector (CC4FISH) Project 
Value Addition of Fishery products in Trinidad and Tobago. Port of Spain July 19th 2019 (R. 
Kishore).

• GEF ISLANDS Inception Meeting, Hilton Hotel and Conference Centre, Port of Spain, 27-28 
August 2019 (W. Nelson).

• Stakeholder Contribution Session for the revision of the National Tourism Policy (2010), The 
Anchorage, Hart’s Cut, Chaguaramas, 20 September 2019 (F. Solomon, W. Nelson).

• EMA, Re: GEF Regional Project: Integrated Management of Coastal Wetlands of the Caribbean 
Region. 8th July 2019. EMA Central Office, Mulchan Seuchan Road, Chaguanas, Trinidad (R. 
Juman, F. Solomon).

• Caroni Swamp Expert Working Group Meeting RE: IFPAMTT Project – Development of 
Monitoring Protocols for Caroni Swamp, Nariva Swamp and Northeast Tobago, Port of Spain, 
19th August 2019

• Nariva Swamp Expert Working Group Meeting RE: IFPAMTT Project – Development of 
Monitoring Protocols for Caroni Swamp, Nariva Swamp and Northeast Tobago, Port of Spain, 
20th August 2019

• Meeting with Sophia University and the Embassy of Japan, IMA Auditorium, Chaguaramas- 
22nd August 2019

• Northeast Tobago Marine Protected Area Expert Working Group Meeting RE: IFPAMTT 
Project Development of Monitoring Protocols for Caroni Swamp, Nariva Swamp and 
Northeast Tobago, Blenheim, Tobago- 30th August 2019, 

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCES/MEETINGS/WORKSHOPS

• Marine Litter Workshop – 18th and 19th October 2018, Miami (Christopher Alexis)

• Blue Economy Caribbean 2018 Event, Caribbean Development Bank and New Energy Events, 
Miami, Florida, 6 November 2018 (W. Nelson).

• The Sustainable Blue Economy Conference (SBEC), 28th – 26th November 2018, Nairobi, 
Kenya (F. Solomon).
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• Global Environment Facility-funded Integrating Water, Land and Ecosystems Management in 
Caribbean Small Island Developing States (GEF-IWEco) Partners Project, November 27-28, 
2018, in Saint Lucia (D. Banjoo). 

• Second Indicators Workshop for the Caribbean Marine Atlas, Santa Marta, Colombia, 12-14 
February 2019 (H. Asmath).

• Regional Leatherback Bycatch Prioritization Workshop at the Torarica Hotel / Eco Resort Inn 
in Paramaribo, Suriname - 16-19 March 2019 (R. Kishore).  

• MBON Pole to Pole Mexico 2nd Workshop “Marine Biodiversity: From the Sea to the Cloud” 
2-6th April, 2019. (A. Jute). 

• Delft3D Flexible Mesh – Coastal Hydrodynamic Modelling, Delft, The Netherlands, 8-9 April, 
2019 (H. Asmath). 

• Delft3D Flexible Mesh – Environmental Modelling, Delft, The Netherlands, 10-12 April, 2019 
(H. Asmath). 

• Water Quality Training Workshop in China April 12-26th 2019 (K. Williams) 

• Intergovernmental Conference (IGC) on an international legally binding instrument under 
the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea on the conservation and sustainable 
use of marine biological diversity of areas beyond national jurisdiction (BBNJ Agreement) – 
March 25th – April 5th (K. Hassanali).

• Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES)-7 
Plenary, UNESCO Headquarters, Paris, France April 29-May 4 2019 (R. Juman)

• Commonwealth Blue Charter – Inaugural Action Group meeting on Ocean Observations – 
May 29- 30 2019. Canada (K. Hassanali).

• Tenth Meeting of the Contracting Parties (COP) to the Protocol Concerning Specially 
Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW) in the Wider Caribbean Region - June 3,2019; Fourth 
Meeting of the Contracting Parties to the Protocol Concerning Pollution from Land-Based 
Sources and Activities in the Wider Caribbean Region (LBS) - June 4, 2019;  Eighteenth 
Intergovernmental Meeting on the Action Plan for the Caribbean Environment Programme 
- June 5-6, 2019; and Blue Economy Summit  6-7 June 2019, Roatán, Honduras (D. Banjoo). 

• Working Session on GEF Regional Project: Integrated Management of Coastal Wetlands of 
the Caribbean Region, 6th – 7th June 2019, Panama City, Panama (F. Solomon).

• 12th International Convention for the Environment and Development, 2 July 2019, Havana, 
Cuba (C. Alexis)

• Climate Change Impact Assessment on the Sandy Coasts of the Caribbean: Alternatives for 
Your Control and Resilience – 3-4th July, Havana, Cuba (C. Alexis).

• CARICOM 3rd Regional BBNJ Workshop in Barbados – July 16th – 18th (K.  Hassanali).

• Second Regional Consultation Meeting on a Coordination Mechanism and Sustainable 
Financing Plan (SFP) for Ocean Governance in the Wider Caribbean Region, 30th July – 1st 
August 2019, Panama City, Panama (F. Solomon).

• Collection and Preservation of Water and Sediment Samples Course. August 2019, Sao 
Paulo, Brazil (S. Ramsammy)

• 3rd Session of the Intergovernmental Conference on an internationally legally binding 
instrument under the UN Convention of the Law of the Sea on the Conservation and 
Sustainable Use of Marine Biological Diversity beyond National Jurisdiction 19-30 August 
2019, New York (Kahlil Hassanali)
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• Museology and Museum Management course, August 21-September 3 2019, New Delhi, 
India (A. Jute)

• High-Level Dialogue on Marine Litter and Waste Management in the Caribbean Region 
Wednesday 4 – Friday 6 September 2019, Belize City. (D. Banjoo)

PRESENTATIONS

• Usage of the Sea: Role of Fisheries Local Knowledge and Participatory GIS” at the Sustainable 
Fisheries Management Workshop hosted by bpTT on October 02 2018 (R. Kishore).

•  “Factors affecting water quality and possible solutions”, UWI Faculty of Food and Agriculture 
Panel Discussion on Leaving No One Behind: Water and Agriculture. TechAgri Expo, 29 March 
2019 (W. Nelson).

• “Promoting Sustainable Tourism in Marine Areas” Tobago Environmental Partnership 
Conference 2019 May 13th 2019, Tobago.  (R. Juman)

• “Forensic oil spill investigation utilizing gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) in 
Trinidad and Tobago” at the (Biennial Regional Conference and EXPO 2019 on Chemical 
Science, Technology and Industry, UWI St. Augustine campus, May 22 – 24, 2019. (D. Banjoo) 

• “The use of defined substrate technology in detecting coliform bacteria on bathing beach 
water quality” at the (Biennial Regional Conference and EXPO 2019 on Chemical Science, 
Technology and Industry, UWI St. Augustine campus, May 22 – 24, 2019 (S. Ramoutar)

• Presentation to Iere High School on mangroves on 4th June 2019 (A. Kanhai).

• Beyond the Blue: Environmental Exhibition 2019 - Oral Presentation. Water Quality 
Presentation  at NALIS.  18th September 2019 (S. Ramoutar).  

• “Microplastics”, Beyond the Blue Environmental Exhibition, NALIS, Port of Spain, 19 
September 2019 (W. Nelson).

• “Alien Invasion – The Lionfish.” IMA’s Beyond the Blue Environmental Exhibition 2019. 19th 
September, 2019, NALIS, Port of Spain, Trinidad. (F. Solomon)
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PUBLICATIONS
RESEARCH DOCUMENTS

reseArCh rePorTs

• Ramoutar, S. 2018. The Bathing Beach Water Quality along Kings Wharf, San Fernando, 
Trinidad. Institute of Marine Affairs, Chaguaramas. 

• Bullock, C. 2018. A survey of the Bacteriological Water Quality at the Coastline from Guapo 
Beach to Clifton Hill Beach at Western Guapo Bay, Trinidad, W. I Institute of Marine Affairs, 
Chaguaramas. 

• Ramoutar, S. and Persad, C.  2019. The Bathing Beach Water Quality along the Southwestern 
Coast of Tobago, W. I. Institute of Marine Affairs, Chaguaramas.

• Kanhai, A. 2019. Macrobenthic Baseline Survey of the Port of Point Galeota, southeast 
Trinidad.   Institute of Marine Affairs, Chaguaramas.

• IMA, 2019.  State of the Marine Environment of Trinidad and Tobago 2018. Institute of 
Marine Affairs, Chaguaramas Report submitted to the Ministry of Planning and Development 
in July 2019.

• CLME+ EBM Report 

• Maharaj, B. Coastal Custodianship Survey 2019: Farmers” - Survey of Farmers to Gain 
Knowledge on Major Crops, Soil Health, Pest and Diseases, existing associated Farming 
Practices for example application of pesticides and fertilizer.  Draft report submitted, 
reviewed by DDR and being revised.

mANusCriPTs PuBlished

• Hassanali, K. 2018 Approaching the Implementing Agreement to UNCLOS on Biodiversity in 
ABNJ: Exploring Favourable Outcomes for CARICOM. Marine Policy (98) 92-96

• Ramoutar, Sheldon, Azad Mohammed, and Adesh Ramsubhag. “Laboratory-scale 
Bioremediation Potential of Single and Consortia Fungal isolates from two Natural 
Hydrocarbon Seepages in Trinidad, West Indies.” Bioremediation Journal (2019): 1-11.

BooK

• Seixas, C. S., Anderson, C. B., Fennessy, S.,Herrera-F., Bernal, Barbosa, O., Cole, R., Juman, R., 
Lopez-Hoffman, L., Moraes, R., M., Overbeck, G., Townsend, W. R., and Diaz- Jose, J. Chapter 
2: Nature’s contributions to people and quality of life. In IPBES, (2018): The IPBES regional 
assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services for the Americas. Rice, J., Seixas, 
C. S., Zaccagnini, M. E., Bedoya-Gaitan, M., and Valderrama, N. (eds.). Secretariat of the 
Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, Bonn, 
Germany, pp. 53-169.

MANUSCRIPTS SUBMITTED FOR PUBLICATION

• Nelson, W. Speciation of Trace Metals in Coastal Sediments from Trinidad and Tobago, West 
Indies.  Submitted to Marine Pollution Bulletin.  Article acceptable for publication pending 
amendments based on reviewer comments.  
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• Valiela, I, Juman, R. Asmath, H., Hanacek, D.M., Lloret, L., Elmstrom, E., Chenoweth, K. and 
Brookshire, E. N. J. Water Quality, Nutrients, and Stable Isotopic Signatures of Particulates 
and Vegetation in a Mangrove Ecosystem exposed to past Anthropogenic Perturbations.  
Manuscript resubmitted to Journal: Regional Studies in Marine Science on August 1 2019.  
Status: Under review

• Ramoutar, S. The Assessment and Evaluation of Colilert-18, Colilert and Enterolert for the 
detection of Faecal Coliform, Escherichia coli and Enterococci in Tropical Marine Waters, 
Trinidad and Tobago’ Submitted to Journal of Water and Health on July 9 2019.  Status: 
Under review.

ENVIRONMENTAL INCIDENT REPORTS

• Rapid Assessment of the Landslip at Granville, Trinidad (C. Alexis).

• Final Report on the Fingerprinting Analyses conducted on oil spilled in Port of Spain Trinidad, 
April 2019 (D. Banjoo). 

• Report on the Fingerprinting Analyses on oil collected from vessel ‘Baltic Rescuer”  Trinidad 
and Tobago, August  2019 (D. Banjoo).

• Report of Manta Ray at Pier 1, 11th April 2019 (F. Solomon).

• Report of dead fish at the Trinidad Sailing School, Chaguaramas, 15th July 2019 (F. Solomon). 
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EXTERNAL COMMITTEES

• Steering Committee for the 6th National Report to the Convention on Biological Diversity (A. 
Kanhai)

• Global Environment Facility Small Grants Programme (GEF SGP) - National Steering 
Committee (NSC) 2018- 2020 (W. Nelson).

• Nariva Stakeholder Committee, Improving Forests and Protected Area Management Project 
(H. Asmath).

• Northeast Tobago Marine Protected Area Stakeholder Committee, Improving Forests and 
Protected Area Management Project (K. Hassanali)

• Deputy Chair, Caroni Swamp Stakeholder Committee, Improving Forests and Protected Area 
Management Project (R. Juman)

• Project Steering Committee, Improving Forests and Protected Area Management Project (R. 
Juman)

• Ministry of Energy and Energy Industries Synthetic Aperture Radar Evaluation Committee 
(H. Asmath).

• Vulnerability and Adaptation (V&A) Assessment of the Coastal Resources of Trinidad and 
Tobago (H. Asmath).

• Management Advisory Committee for the Nariva Swamp Managed Resource Protected Area 
Environmentally Sensitive Area (H. Asmath).

• Land Reclamation Committee (C. Alexis).

• Turtle Village Trust – Beach management committee (C. Alexis).

• UNEP LBS SOCAR (State of the Area Report) Data Sub-Group (D. Banjoo).

• National Working Group/Trawl Multi-Sectoral Committee for By-catch Management and 
Promotion of Alternative Livelihood Strategies in the Shrimp Trawl Fishery in Trinidad and 
Tobago (REBYC II-LAC) (F. Solomon).

• Management Committee for the Caroni Lagoon National Park and Bird Sanctuary (F. 
Solomon).

• Deputy Chair, Inter-Ministerial Integrated Coastal Zone Management Committee (R. Juman)

• Project Steering Committee to oversee Trinidad and Tobago’s Third National Communication 
(TNC) and First Biennial Update Report (BUR) to the United Nations Framework Convention 
for Climate Change (UNFCCC) (K. Hasssanali)

• Project Advisory Committee Meeting - Capacity Development for the Improved Management 
of MEAs for Global Environment Benefits (K. Hassanali)

• National Committee on the Framework for Expansion of Transhipment and Cold Stacking 
activities in the Gulf of Paria (K. Hassanali)

• National Focal Point for the ACS Sandy Shoreline Project – (A. Khan)
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imA’s CommuNiTy reseArCh symPosiA

• Careers in the Marine Environment, Career Fair, July 3rd 2019, Carenage

• Belle Garden, Tobago – November 2018

• Carenage- August 16th 2019

regioNAl ProJeCTs uNderTAKeN

• Association of Caribbean States – Sandy Shoreline Project

• CARIB-COAST

CollABorATioNs

• Ministries of Energy and Energy Industries on Early Warning System for Oil Spills in the 
Northern Gulf-of-Paria, Installation of Single Aperture Radar (SAR) systems for Chaguaramas

• Coastal Protection Unit, Ministry of Works and Transport on- National Comprehensive 
Coastal Monitoring Programme 

memorANdA of uNdersTANdiNg

• The University of Trinidad and Tobago

• The University of the West Indies

oTher ACTiviTies / eveNTs

• Interviews by researchers for IMA’s Beyond the Blue Radio Programme. 

• Hosting of students for St Francois’s Girl College World of Work Programme

• Hosting of 5 Stakeholder Consultations on the Integrated Coastal Zone Policy

• Research Seminar by Dr Anjani Ganase on State of Coral Reef in the Caribbean

• Visit by Canadian Ambassador – re: The Blue Economy 

• Visit by Japanese Ambassador re: visit by President – Sophia University
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INFORMATION CENTRE
Overview
The Information Centre is responsible for the dissemination of the research work of the Institute of 
Marine Affairs, public education and awareness on all aspects of the marine environment and 
dissemination of information to the general public.  The Centre actively engages the nation’s school 
population at the primary, secondary and tertiary levels school pupils, stakeholders, community-based 
organisations, non-governmental organisations, government agencies and the private sector through 
participation at public exhibitions, delivery of school presentations and other outreach activities.  

The Information Centre is also tasked to disseminate research information to inform policy and to keep 
stakeholders informed of ongoing and completed research projects.  The Centre includes a Library that 
serves as the only documentation repository that provides local marine environmental information 
unique to Trinidad and Tobago.  

The Information Centre is accountable for the following:
• Public Education and Awareness
• Information dissemination (including Social Media)
• Stakeholder relationship management 
• Library services Unit
The following strategic developments were spearheaded under the following different categories for the 
period October 2018 to September 2019.  

INFORMATION SERVICES

The IMA’s Strategic Plan for 2019-2024 &  
Strategic Communication Plan

The organisation’s Chief Information Officer, Ms. Alicia Carter-Fisher was tasked with undertaking the 
technical work for the development of the IMA strategic plan 2019-2024. The process included leading 
and facilitating strategy development sessions with the management team, conducting literature 
reviews and primary research and the application of planning tools such as the Balance Scorecard with 
a Strategy Map, Michal Porter’s Value Chain Analysis (modified), PESTLE and SWOT Analysis.  Specific, 
measurable, attainable, relevant and time-bound objectives were crafted and would provide an 
evidence-based approach to the monitoring and evaluation and the provision of achievement signposts.

Lending support to the IMA Strategic Plan 2019-2024, the Information Centre also put forward the 
following objectives, to:

1.  Promote an understanding of the importance of the marine and related environment 
through information dissemination and the implementation of innovative public 
education and communication programmes and strategies;

2. Promote and profile the IMA as the premier marine research organisation to key 
stakeholders in order to showcase the importance and benefits derived from its work;

3.  Provide current and relevant information products to support and advance the 
functions of the Research Programmes and Support Departments in a timely manner;

4. Manage the identity, image, and brand of the Institute for the purpose of building 
reputational currency, credibility and social legitimacy with stakeholders;

5. Assist in the internal alignment of staff (engagement) for the purpose of delivery of 
strategic objectives.

A Strategic Communications Plan to support the delivery of the strategic and financial objectives of the 
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organisation were therefore crafted inclusive of an internal engagement strategy to aid internal 
stakeholder alignment for the fostering of a culture supportive of achieving the goals and objectives of 
the strategic plan. The Strategic Communications Plan comprises strategies not only for building 
awareness on issues of strategic importance to the organisation but also supports behavioural change 
through initiatives to promote commitment, and encourage feedback and speak-up opportunities for 
staff.  

The main elements of the Communications Strategy include:

1. An integrated approach to communications utilising both traditional and digital media 
with the same messages geared towards improving visibility and brand recognition;

2. Regularly scheduled media products to improve organisation visibility and subject 
awareness;

3. Scheduled media products that utilize the information on the consumption patterns 
of the IMA segmented audiences; 

4. A Lunch and Learn series, staff town hall, and internal newsletter geared to improving 
engagement and organisational trust;

5. Staff training to improve quality, quantity and diversity of output while reducing costs 
of operations;

6. Capital investment in production capability in order to realize greater return on 
investment as output increases;

7. Strengthening of the organisation brand, value proposition and the ability of the 
organisation to live it; and

8. Monitoring and evaluation.

The Information Centre also produced a Crisis Communications Plan to guide and support the 
organisation’s communication function and actions during a crisis. Business Continuity and Crisis 
Operations Plans, existed prior but a Crisis Communications to support operations, handle media and 
other stakeholder enquiry and manage the organisational reputation was absent.  The Crisis 
Communications Plan provides for categories or levels of crises with notification and call-out plans 
based on the level of crisis. Policies for engaging the media, disclosure, hosting press briefings and 
spokespersons’ brief are also included in the plan. The plan also included a template for an Initial Press 
Statement and checklist to support the activities of keep both the communications and operations 
response teams.  

Communications Tactics

1. Radio Broadcast Pilot

This 2019 fiscal also saw the development of a radio broadcast pilot entitled, Beyond the Blue, so called 
to reflect that our marine and coastal spaces impact every aspect of our lives, in terms of our ability to 
live on this planet as well as provide us with a livelihood. Fifteen programmes ran during morning drive 
time on I95.5fm, Sangeet 106fm and Radio Tambrin 92.7fm in Tobago at negotiated reduced bulk rates. 
The Radio Division of the Ministry of Communication also aired the broadcasts on all other radio eighteen 
national radio stations during their allotted free slots at the goodwill of the stations.

Radio was selected as the preferred medium because of the following:

1. National Environmental Literacy survey conducted by the Environmental Management 
Authority indicated that the Radio and Television was the first source of information 
of the Trinidad and Tobago public for environmental information. About 73.2% of the 
citizenry sited radio and television as their primary source of information.

2. The cost of production and broadcast was relatively inexpensive.
3. Radio drive time programmes were a part of the media consumption habits of a 

significant portion of the national population.
4. It can be consumed ‘on the go’.
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5. Its ability to raise brand awareness of the IMA with frequent mentions.
6. Its ability to contribute to building a mental picture of the IMA as competent and 

cutting-edge researchers through frequent programming.
7. Its ability to build awareness on marine science and environment through frequent 

scheduled programming.
8. The possibility of sharing content on other digital platforms such as social media and 

the IMA’s website.

The programmes shared content on marine environmental matters but also share the study and findings 
of IMA researchers and other local authorities. An array of topics were covered including but not limited 
to marine pollution, ecosystem services provided by marine and coastal environments, mangrove 
forests, coral reefs, sea grass beds, micro-plastics, integrated coastal zone management, World Wetlands 
Day, ocean acidification, rip currents, Saharan dust, beach safety and bioluminescence. The IMA 
collaborated with the Information Services Division, Ministry of Communications to record interviews 
with subject matter experts and the Radio Division of the Ministry of Communications to distribute the 
content.

Series Format
Programmes simulated live recording format punctuated with the appropriate sound effects, an 
interviewer and subject matter expert interviewee.  The aim- audio variety to create listening interest, 
build credibility and showcase the research prowess of the Institute’s researchers.  The introduction 
included a hook that either asked a question or proposed to provide the answer to a question or some 
other staged issue using the journalistic news values. The introductory hook was followed by an opening 
billboard, signposting the IMA identification as the executive producer, followed by the main content 
and ending with a closing billboard.

The Institute’s Chief Information Officer produced the content, wrote scripts, interviewed subject-
matter experts and voiced the programmes. The Institute’s Senior Electrical Technician performed the 
editing and sound design functions. The in-house production redounded in a reduction in the overall 
cost to bring the product to air.

The programmes had broad appeal and were well-received and the National Gas Company of Trinidad 
and Tobago sought permission to use the content in it’s internal podcast for staff.

2. National Immersive Marine Science Exhibition

Building on the success of the pilot radio broadcast, the Institute hosted for the first time in its history 
an immersive Marine Science and Environmental Exhibition called Beyond the Blue. Originally intended 
to commemorate World Oceans’ Day, the exhibition was held to meet the following objectives:

1. Bring awareness of the role of oceans in providing ecosystems service that preserve 
life on the planet;

2. The role of oceans in providing food, medicines, energy, and supporting global trade;
3. Increased visibility and brand awareness; 
4. Increased audience reach to national school population and general public; and the
5. Production and acquisition of teaching and learning aids and printed material for use 

in public education & awareness initiatives.

The inaugural Marine Science and Environmental Exhibition was held from 17th – 19th September 2019 
at the National Library and Information System Authority (NALIS), Port of Spain in a full Interactive and 
immersive experience through the use of three-dimensional models and artwork, virtual reality 
technology, games, videos and audio design. Targeted to primary and secondary school across Trinidad, 
this immersive and information exhibition was used as a platform to expose students to the various 
careers available in the marine sciences field.  Foot traffic from the library and walk-ins from offices and 
business situated in Port of Spain also participated in the three-day event. An estimate of three hundred 
and thirty-five (335) persons attended the IMA event, which included thirteen (13) schools.
The Exhibition was launched at an Opening Ceremony where the Minister of Planning and Development 
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delivered the feature address and toured the various exhibits, declaring them open. Just under one 
hundred (100) persons attended the opening, including members of the business community, 
stakeholders in the education and environment sectors, and the Tobago House of Assembly. The Minister 
of Planning and Development, drawing on the memory of the horrific aftermath of Hurricane Dorian, 
noted that it was critical to engage the youth so they appreciate our natural marine resources, which are 
susceptible to the adverse effects of climate change as evidenced by more intense hurricanes hitting the 
region.  Our youth, she noted, must be alerted to the issues we face, as they must be part of the solution.

 
Image 1 – The Minister of Planning and Development, the Honourable Camille Robinson-Regis, delivering 

the Keynote Address at the Opening Ceremony of the IMA Marine Environmental Exhibition 2019

The work of a young artist from St. Mary’s College who portrayed marine pollution as his theme for CAPE 
examinations was also featured. Mr. Nathaniel Davis, loaned his various pieces in acrylic, clay and other 
media for display at the three-day exhibit.
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Image 2 - (L-R):  Captain Douglas Archer, Chairman Hayden Alexander of IMA Board of Governors, 
Director of IMA-Dr.Ahmad Khan, Honourable Camille Robinson-Regis, UTT student Nathaniel Davis, THA 
Councillor Kwesi Des Vignes, Janice Dukharan of Shell Trinidad and Tobago Ltd.

Image 3 – Layout of Exhibits and Artwork that populated the Coral Reefs section of the Exhibition
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The overarching goal of the exhibition was the raising of public awareness regarding the importance of 
marine life to sustainable development using a variety of media. The Exhibition focused on the 
significance of marine ecosystem (coral reefs) conservation and protection, the importance of wetlands 
such as mangroves and careers in marine sciences.  The exhibition was physically organised into the 
following three different sections;

1 -Coral Reefs Underwater Booth

2- Mangroves and Related Booths

3- Career Fair Booths
                                                      

The Exhibition also garnered significant media coverage.

1 – Coral Reefs and Underwater Booths, 
which saw several students and visitors 
exploring the splendid coral reefs of 
Tobago with the use of Virtual Reality (VR) 
Goggles while being informed of the 
significance and fragility of same. At left: 
Dr. Anjani Ganase, Coral Reef Ecologist 
showing TTCG Captain Archer coral reefs 
with the use of VR Goggles

2- Mangroves Booth, students and visitors 
learned of the importance of these wetlands, 
which serve to protect and defend our shore 
and coastlines from storm surges through the 
demonstration of a mangrove wave simulator.  
At left, the Honourable Camille Robinson-
Regis operating the mangrove wave simulator

3- Career Fair Booths – Brief presentations of 
different careers in marine sciences delivered 
by none other than research and scientific 
officers.  
At left: IMA Researcher, Attish Kanhai, 
demonstrating scientific instruments to 
school group.
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Media Coverage
IMA Marine Environmental Exhibition 2019 was covered by the local media and was featured in the 
Trinidad Guardian on the 19th September 2019, the Trinidad Newsday, radio stations and online media.

Taken from the Trinidad Guardian 19th Sep. 2019 featuring Nathaniel Daniel, young artist using his art 
to raise awareness of the fragility of our marine ecosystems at IMA Marine Environmental Exhibition 
2019.
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Guardian October 11th 2019
Marine pollution damage not irreversible—IMA

And highlighting the significance of the event, Deputy Director, IMA Dr Rahanna Juman told reporters 
that although the waters surrounding Trinidad and Tobago have been heavily impacted by pollution 
from the oil and gas industry and tonnes of plastic waste, the damage done to the marine life and 
ecosystem is not irreversible.

  “Speaking at the IMA’s Beyond the Blue exhibition at the Nalis Library in Port-
of-Spain, Juman said the IMA hopes the three-day interactive exhibit will go a long way in 
educating citizens about the dangers of pollution and teaching them the importance of the 
conservation of marine life.
 [“The intention of the exhibition is to educate on the value of the ocean, why it is so 
important, what does it provide to us, and on its current state. We want persons to have an 
appreciation for the ocean and use the space sustainably.  The ocean can continue providing 
us with goods and services we require without us completely degrading it”] Juman said.
 She said within T&T’s territory, there is 15 times more sea space than land space. With 
major oil and gas operations taking place in that sea space, there has been a lot of issues with 
pollution over the years. Juman said land-based pollution is also a major issue.
 Asked to rate the condition of the ocean on a scale of one to ten, with ten being the 
worst possible state, Juman said, “I think its a six, it is bad but it is not bad enough that we 
cannot do anything about it, it is still manageable and if we do the right thing, we can reduce 
the pollution.”
 The exhibit, which includes several interactive displays and a virtual reality tour of 
Tobago’s coral reefs, will wrap up on Thursday with a public lecture on plastic pollution and 
its impact on the marine ecosystem at the Library.
 “We tried to create live images of the coral reefs because most people who can’t scuba 
dive wouldn’t be able to see the coral reefs so we have these goggles where you can have 
that underwater coral reef experience, we really want people to have an appreciation and an 
awareness of their environment because we think if they do, they would help to manage it 
and remove some of the impacts,” Juman said.” 

Guardian October 11th 2019
Marine pollution damage not irreversible—IMA

This event also saw the participation of various governmental and non-governmental organisations, 
including the Environmental Management Authority, The Trinidad and Tobago Coast Guard, SWMCOL, 
the Forestry Division, the Fisheries Division, Improving Forest and Protected Area Management Project 
(IFPAM) of the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), Environmental Policy and Planning Division – 
Ministry of Planning and Development, NIHERST, WASA, UWI and UTT, along with IMA’s Career booth, 
game booth, Reference Collection booth and also the sampling equipment booth and selfie station.  
Students were actively engaged in the interactive booths and based on feedback received, there have 
been requests for the exhibition to be displayed at other areas within Trinidad and Tobago.  

The data in the table below provides highlights of stakeholders’ feedback with their experience at the 
Beyond the Blue Marine Science Exhibition 2019.
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Exhibitors’ Fast Facts

72% of Exhibitors rated foot  traffic to the booths to be GOOD, 
which facilitated a high level of engagement with students 
and visitors alike.

94% of Exhibitors rated as GOOD, the helpfulness, approach-
ability and welcoming disposition of the IMA Staff 

88.9% of Exhibitors were pleased with the flow of the foot 
traffic to the booths during the course of the 3 days

78% of Exhibitors were happy with the venue as a suitable 
place to interact with a large percentage of members of the 
public and to engage a large number of school students.

    Attendee Fast Facts

100% of Respondents
Found the marine Exhibition to be OUT-
STANDING

100% of Respondents
found presenters in Booths to be very 
Knowledgeable

83.3% of Respondents
 Found AV-Room Presentations were very 
INFORMATIVE

83.3% of Respondents are now more 
aware of how man’s actions and activities 
harm the marine environment

Social Media Statistics for the Beyond the Blue Marine Science Exhibition 2019

Opening Ceremony
Live stream of opening ceremony, 897 views and 21 shares during the staging of the event.
As of 11th October 2019, there were 2,807 persons reached.

Public Lecture
Live stream of the Public Lecture on Plastic Pollution and impact on marine environment by  
Dr. La Daana Kanhai
• 2118 people reached
• 253 engagements
• 624 views during the staging of the event with 15 shares 

Presentations by Researchers during the 3-day Exhibition
All presentations were lived streamed. An overage of 200 persons reached for these events. Eight 
such presentations were live streamed over the three-day event.

3. fACe To fACe ouTreACh

A. 
The Information Centre’s public awareness and outreach programme engaged 1,476 students and 
teachers, which included primary school pupils, secondary school students, tertiary level students, 
citizens and various private and public organisations and agencies. Marine conservation awareness was 
communicated using various vehicles, including face to face educational talks, games, exhibits and tours 
conducted at the Fisheries and Aquaculture Research and Programme (FARP) at the Institute of Marine 

Affairs.

The Information Centre participated in environmental exhibitions where the Information Officers 
engaged more than 380 persons on the significance of coastal and marine conservation.  During outreach 
activities, Officers delivered presentations on various topics including Coral Reefs, Mangroves 
Ecosystems, Water Education, Wetlands, Climate Change, Marine Mammals, Leatherback turtles, 
Invasive Lionfish, Careers in Marine Sciences, Biodiversity, and Marine Pollution to more than 490 

“Very informatitve and interesting presentations; this 
should be done at least twice per year”-Attendee
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students at several primary and secondary level schools in Trinidad and Tobago.  The Officers also 
facilitated and presented at a few career days for several secondary schools, disseminating information 
and guidance on the subjects required for a career in marine sciences.   Approximately 50 secondary 
school students were accommodated at the IMA and received tours of the Aquaculture Facilities. 

Community outreach was provided to the Institute’s host community within Carenage and Point Cumuna 
and Diego Martin area. In its sixteenth year, the Sea & Me Programme (west Trinidad) was carried out to 
post-Secondary Entrance Assessment (SEA) pupils for a total of five primary schools in the Carenage and 
the Point Cumana area. The programme was expanded for the first time to include a primary school in 
Diego Martin.  Topics covered were: Water Education; Marine Mammals; Coral Reefs; and Water Safety. 
An environmental jeopardy and other quizzes and games were used to engage the students and reinforce 
lessons learnt.   This was also the third year that the Sea and Me Programme – Sangre Grande (east 
Trinidad) was staged. However, during 2019, more schools in the east were included in the programme: 
schools in the communities of Cumuto and Carapo.  A total of 163 students benefitted from the Sea and 
Me (West and East) Programme in 2019. Data from Pre and Post surveys during the programme revealed 
an increase in the knowledge and environmental awareness of our marine ecosystems among all the 
students who participated in the programme.  

These outreach activities are beneficial to the sustainable development of Trinidad and Tobago as it 
supports Theme 1 (Nurturing our Greatest Asset) of Vision 2030 National Development Strategy – Goal 
7: Modern Relevant Education and Training System.  Appendix One provides more details on the outreach 
activities conducted for the period under review.

3B. symPosiA ANd CommuNiTy eNgAgemeNT
The Department is responsible for disseminating information and managing relationships with the 
Institute’s stakeholders.  Several events were hosted to demonstrate the Institute of Marine Affairs’ 
support to Theme 5 (Placing the Environment at the Centre of Social and Economic Development), 
Vision 2030 National Development Strategy – Goal 5: Natural Resource Management will be improved. 
These events are outlined below:

i. Tobago Symposium 2018 – Partnership with IFPAM TT 

The Institute of Marine Affairs (IMA) in collaboration with the Improving Forest and Protected Area 
Management Project (IFPAM) of the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) of the United Nations 
hosted a two-day Symposium in Tobago during October 2018, themed Transforming Tobago; 
Understanding and Conserving our Natural Ecosystems. 

On Monday 29th October, persons from surrounding communities of Roxborough to Charlotteville were 
invited to a ‘Fish Broth and Talk’  Community Symposium at Betsy’s Hope Community Centre (Louis d’Or) 
to discuss matters related to coastal erosion and coral restoration in Tobago, integrated coastal zone 
management, invasive species and on the Tobago’s Sargassum Response Plan. 

On Tuesday 30th October 2018, the target audience was secondary school children for the symposium 
held at the Scarborough Public Library. The Tobago House of Assembly’s Chief Secretary, Mr. Kelvin 
Charles, delivered the feature address at the opening ceremony of the school symposium.  The results 
of IMA’s research on the island was shared with students at the school symposium along with information 
on the state of coral reefs  and water quality in southwest Tobago. A total of ninety-four students and 
eight teachers participated from six schools. The IMA was able to facilitate a live stream of the school 
symposium and presentations are available on the IMA’s Facebook page.
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ii. Tobago Environmental Partnership Conference 2019 

Demonstrating the IMA’s commitment for collaboration between external agencies, the Information 
Centre participated at this conference on 13th May 2019. The Information Centre hosted a booth at the 
Mt. Irvine Hotel and Conference Centre where persons attending the conference were engaged and 
informed about the IMA and its research capabilities.   

iii.  IMA’s First Career Fair 

IMA hosted its first Career Fair within its fenceline community at the Carenage Fishing Centre entitled 
“Sea and Me: Livelihood and Learning” on 3rd July 2019. The IMA partnered with several agencies in the 
marine and yachting sectors to highlight the various careers available in these fields. The participating 
agencies that hosted booths were UTT, Carenage Fisherfolk Association, TTHTI, CFTDI, Capital Signal Ltd, 
Pilots Association and the Trinidad and Tobago Coast Guard. IMA’s booth showcased some of its marine 
scientific equipment along with highlighting the careers available within marine sciences. Students and 
young persons were also encouraged to participate in the games available to win prizes. Approximately 
80 young persons from the community visited the various booths. 

iv. IMA’s 6th Community Research Symposium 

The Information Centre assisted the Research Programmes in hosting its 6th successful Community 
Research Symposium, also themed “Sea and Me: Livelihood and Learning” on 14th August 2019 at the 
Carenage Fishing Centre. The objective of this symposium was to share relevant scientific information to 
all stakeholders and discuss challenges, possible solutions and mitigation measures within the area. 
Presentations were delivered by IMA Research staff on the loss of seagrasses and its impact on the 
benthic community, bathing beach water quality along the Chaguaramas peninsula, oil spills investigations 
and techniques, development of the mariculture industry within our country and coastal challenges 
within the peninsula and how integrated coastal zone management can be utilised. External 
presentations were also shared by other agencies including Fisheries Division and UTT.  The symposium 
not only disseminates the research work of the Institute but also fosters and builds bridges between 
scientists and society and the business community.  

v. Media Launch and Workshop on the Guidebook on Sustainable Environmental 
Practices for Boatyards in Trinidad and Tobago

The Workshop was hosted at the IMA’s Auditorium on 6th February 2019. It was a collaboration among 
the Ministry of Trade and Industry, the Environmental Management Authority and the Institute of 
Marine Affairs to present the “Guidebook on Sustainable Environmental Practices for Marinas and 
Boatyards in Trinidad and Tobago” to participants from various marine sectors including associations of 
marinas and boatyards.  The guidebook provides an outline of best management practices for the marina 
and boatyard industry to achieve excellence in environmental stewardship through disaster risk 
reduction, environmental education and safety.  Twenty-two representatives from various organisations 
attended the workshop and benefited from information shared on the National Yachting Policy.  
It identified key areas of the guidelines and impact on the marine sector.

vi. Public Lecture Series 2019

As a research organisation the IMA is committed to advancing the body of knowledge in marine science 
and its related areas. The provision of both opportunity and receptive spaces for young scientists to 
present their latest research and experiences, is part of the organisation’s mandate to disseminate 
information on the marine and coastal areas.  Such opportunities we hope, will lead to the cross 
fertilisation of ideas, the fostering of multi-disciplinary and collaborative approaches not only among 
our scientists but among the organisations invited to present.  Such approaches are critical to the 
provision of an evolving body of work that will not only inform policy and conservation efforts but lead 
to ground-breaking findings in the future. Following on the success of the public lectures hosted during 
the celebration of IMA’s 40th anniversary during the previous year, there were three additional public 
lectures hosted during the period under review. The first public lecture was hosted at the IMA’s 
Auditorium on 14th March 2019.  Dr. La Daana Kanhai, marine scientist, presented her research on 
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“Microplastics in the Arctic Central Basin:  Insights from the Arctic Ocean 2016 Expedition.” The event 
was also streamed live on Facebook for our online audience. The second public lecture was held on 24th 
April 2019 with Dr. Anjani Ganase as she presented on “The structure and composition of modern-day 
Caribbean seascapes”. The third public lecture was held on 19th September 2018, with Dr. La Daana 
Kanhai’s lecture entitled “The Plastic Conversation in Trinidad and Tobago” at NALIS, Port of Spain as 
part of the Beyond the Blue Marine Science Exhibition.

vii. Printed Communications

External Newsletters and Tidal Calendar
Through the publication of the triennial external newsletter entitled, IMA News, which was produced 
and disseminated in December 2018, and April/August 2019, stakeholders were informed of the progress 
in research projects and alerted to pressing marine environmental matters through articles written by 
research staff. The IMA Tidal Calendar 2019 was produced to inform of tidal projections as well as to 
showcase the splendid beauty of the scenic sea and landscapes that adorned the twelve months.  These 
tidal projections support the maritime sector and yachting industry.   

Newspaper articles
For the period under review, sixteen newspaper articles were submitted by researchers from the various 
research programmes and were published in the Trinidad Express, Tobago Newsday and Tobago Today.  
The use of traditional media such as the newspaper is still a viable medium to raise awareness on marine 
conservation and environmental issues.

viii. Events

To commemorate World Ocean Day and World Environment Day, a presentation was delivered in the 
auditorium, followed by a Tree Planting Activity with staff on the IMA’s compound on 7th June 2019.

International Coastal Cleanup 2019 
To support the Institute’s commitment to the environment and conservation of our natural resources, 
the IMA participated in the International Coastal Cleanup 2019. On Saturday 21st September, IMA joined 
in the Ocean Conservancy’s annual International Coastal Cleanup, partnering with Xtra Foods Limited at 
Hart’s Cut, Chaguaramas. One hundred and ten adults (110) and eleven (11) children participated. One 
thousand one hundred and eighty-two pounds (1,182 lbs) of garbage was collected, filling 87 bags of 
trash.  

ix. Media Interviews 
• Dr. Rahanna Juman, Deputy Director (Research)/Wetlands Ecologist was 

interviewed on TTT Limited programme NOW Morning Show on 01st February 
2019 at 6:00 a.m. for ‘World Wetlands Day 2019 themed Wetlands and Climate 
Change’ 

• Dr. Rahanna Juman, Deputy Director (Research)/Wetlands Ecologist was 
interviewed on TV6 programme Morning Edition on 05th February 2019 at 6:25 
a.m. 

• Ms. Krystal Ganaselal, Information Officer/Public Relations was interviewed on 
i95.5FM Radio Station to discuss IMA’s Career Fair and Community Research 
Symposium. 

• Dr. Rahanna Juman, Deputy Director (Research)/Wetlands Ecologist and Mr. 
Glendon Glasgow, Information Officer, were interviewed on TV6 Morning Edition 
on 1st July 2019 to discuss IMA’s Career Fair and Community Research 
Symposiuim. 

• Dr. Rahanna Juman, Deputy Director (Research)/Wetlands Ecologist was 
interviewed on Radio on Talk City 91.1 FM on Saturday 29th 2019 to discuss the 
IMA’s Career Fair and Research Symposium with Jayron Remy aka DJ Rawkus

• Ms. Alicia Carter-Fisher, Chief Information Officer was interviewed on TTT 
Limited programme NOW Morning Show on Wednesday 03rd July 2019 to 
discuss the upcoming Career Fair. 
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• Dr. Rahanna Juman, Deputy Director (Research) and Mr. Sheldon Ramoutar, 
Microbiologist were interviewed on CNC3 programme The Morning Brew on 
Tuesday 20 August 2019 at 6:45 a.m. They discussed the risks posed by elevated 
bacterial levels in waters of popular bathing beaches around Trinidad and 
Tobago. 

• Drs. Farahnaz Solomon and Anjani Ganase were interviewed on Radio Tambrin, 
Tobago on Thursday 05 September 2019 at 10:30 a.m. They discussed the Coral 
Bleaching Outlook for Trinidad and Tobago and the IMA’s Marine Environmental 
Exhibition themed ‘Beyond the Blue’ on 17 – 19 September 2019 at the National 
Library and Information System Authority (NALIS).

• Drs. Farahnaz Solomon and Anjani Ganase were interviewed on NOW Morning 
Show, TTT Limited on Tuesday 10 September 2019 at 6:45 a.m. They discussed 
the Coral Bleaching Outlook for Trinidad and Tobago and the IMA’s Marine 
Environmental Exhibition themed ‘Beyond the Blue’ on 17 – 19 September 2019 
at the National Library and Information System Authority (NALIS). 

• Dr. Ahmad Khan, Director and Ms. Lorraine Barrow, Librarian were interviewed 
on the Morning Brew, TV6 on Friday 13 September 2019 at 7:00 a.m. Dr. Khan 
discussed the IMA’s new strategic direction and Ms. Barrow discussed the IMA’s 
Marine Environmental Exhibition themed ‘Beyond the Blue’ on 17 – 19 
September 2019 at the National Library and Information System Authority 
(NALIS). 

4. digiTAl CommuNiCATioNs

Social Media and the Website
The IMA has six main digital platforms; website; Facebook; Youtube; Linkedin; Instagram; Twitter and 
Sound Cloud. The following were the accomplishments with regard to digital media.

• An Editorial Calendar was developed.
• Quarterly engagement reports were introduced’
• Video livestreaming, using video switching was introduced to engage audiences virtually.
• A SoundCloud account was established to post the Beyond the Blue radio broadcast.

The IMA introduced social media platforms to its cadre of media and communication channels in 2012 
beginning with Facebook.  By 2018 a further four networks: LinkedIn, Instagram, Twitter, YouTube in 
2018 were added and in February 2019, a SoundCloud account was established.

During the periods April 2018 to September 2018 and October 2018 to December 2018, focus was given 
to developing and discovering the IMA’s voice in the various online communities. This was achieved by 
getting familiar with the network-specific rudiments of content development, audience engagement, 
together with analytics and its interpretation.
 
Audience habits and published articles on social media trends were considered in the drafting and 
finalising of an Editorial Calendar, featuring a weekly schedule for the production and posting of content 
on the various social networks. The document also included dates of Trinidad and Tobago’s national 
public holidays and international environmental observances for 2019. Appendix 3 provides details of 
the Editorial Calendar for the period under review.  

In 2019, the Information Centre also used an event management mobile application called WHOVA to 
engage stakeholders prior to, during and post staging of the Beyond the Blue Marine Science Exhibition.
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Social Media analytics
The gathering of relevant data for regular reporting across the networks proved problematic as the data 
points and their periods for availability were incongruent. Further exploration on the matter confirmed 
that with the constant, rapid development of global social media marketing needs and interests, the 
metrics across the various networks are numerous and, in some cases specialised. 

In December 2018, the following fields were recommended as a means of homogenising social media 
usage metrics across various platforms for any given period:

• Monthly Conversation rate (the number of audience comments/replies for the month divided 
by total posts for the month.

• Monthly Amplification rate (the number of share-clicks (YouTube), re-tweets or shares for the 
month divided by total posts for the month.

• Monthly Applause rate (the number of likes, thumbs-up, positive votes for the month divided 
by total posts for the month.

While these areas are ideal, active indicators of audience engagement, giving a clear picture of the kind 
of community IMA engaged was needed.

In March 2019, a strategy for developing IMA’s social media marketing and outreach capacity was 
approved and implemented. An outline of the strategy was as follows: 

• Audit of social media presence (March 2019); - Delivered April 2019
• Set targets based on IMA’s Strategic Plan; - As guided by management April 2019
• Confirm Editorial Calendar - Approved June 2019
• Prepare optimised content templates; - Template in use since November 2018
• Conduct analysis of quarterly and annual metrics for evidenced based approach to continuous 

improvement.

The following are some of our statistics:

End of month - March 2019 snapshot of People talking about the page. Analytics provided by 
Facebook.com 

Top ten areas and number of people talking about IMA’s Facebook page (March 2019 snapshot)
• Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago - 76
• San Fernando, Trinidad and Tobago - 24
• Couva, Chaguanas, Trinidad and Tobago - 16
• Chaguanas, Trinidad and Tobago - 15
• Diego Martin, Diego Martin Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 8
• Scarborough, Sangre Grande Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 7
• Sangre Grande, Sangre Grande Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 6
• Siparia, Penal-Debe Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 5
• Point Fortin, Trinidad and Tobago - 5
• Penal, Penal-Debe Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago – 4
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Mid-month - October 2019 snapshot of People talking about the page. Analytics provided by 
Facebook.com 

Top ten areas and number of people talking about IMA’s Facebook page (October 2019 snapshot)
• Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago - 90
• Couva, Couva-Tabaquite-Talparo Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 68
• San Fernando, Trinidad and Tobago - 61
• Chaguanas, Trinidad and Tobago - 57
• Penal, Penal-Debe Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 20
• Scarborough, Tobago, Trinidad and Tobago - 15
• Princess Town, Princes Town Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 14
• Tunapuna, Tunapuna-Piarco Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 14
• Sangre Grande, Sangre Grande Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 14
• San Juan, San Juan-Laventille Regional Corporation, Trinidad and Tobago - 11

• January 2019 featured 10 posts, one of which garnered the greatest number of comments 
for that month – 74, and the highest conversation rate for the period under review. This post 
referred to the presentation of the Marine Biology Award to UWI graduate, Ms. Hannah 
Lochan. 52 of the total comments on this post originated from Ms. Lochan’s re-post.
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• February 2019 had the highest amplification and applause rates. The two posts that drove 
these areas were related to Wetlands conservation. World Wetlands Day is celebrated on 
2nd February.

•  Original video content continues to hold the interest of Facebook users. 

• For the period June 2019 – July 2019, there was a rise in audience engagement, followed by 
a drop in August 2019. The content shared for this period is associated with the IMA’s Career 
Fair at the Carenage Fishing Centre. 

 
Online correspondence via the Facebook Messenger inbox for the period under review shows that the 
greatest areas of concern that drove users to engage the IMA directly are:

• Employment/Internship opportunities at the IMA
• Volunteering of skills/services
• Career advice
• Environmental incidents
• Research assignments (Secondary and Tertiary level)
• Follow-up on requests for data/presentations

The Institute will continue to deepen and broaden its online engagement in years to come as it provides 
a cost-effective way to reach out to many persons both local and international. The Information 
Technology Department continues to support the Information Centre in providing the tools to support 
the information dissemination and public engagement initiatives of the IC.
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THE LIBRARY SERVICES UNIT
The Institute of Marine Affairs (IMA) Library supports the research objectives and strategic direction of 
the Institute by providing a trove of current and relevant information sources and an environment 
conducive to research discussions and meetings.  This commitment to increase and enhance delivery of 
the Institute’s information service is reflected in the Library’s Work Plan 2017-2018, which was aligned 
to the goals articulated in Theme V of the Government’s National Development Strategy – Vision 2030. 

This section onwards documents the accomplishments and contributions made by the Library to advance 
the objectives of the Research Programmes for the period under review, in three main categories: 

• Library Management;
• Library Operations; and
• Library Services.

liBrAry mANAgemeNT 
The main objective of the Library is to provide a current and comprehensive cache of information to its 
research programmes and support departments in a timely manner. This role extends beyond the 
library’s walls through the provision an up-to-date information service to members of the general public, 
where ever they reside locally or and internationally. For the period under review, the Library continued 
planning through budgeting resources and formulating work plans and policies to achieve this objective. 

Expenditure – The Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, as the primary source of funding 
for the activities of the Library allocates funds which are used in acquiring the necessary information 
resources (books, select journal subscription renewals and access to digital national papers) which 
support the research programmes. The funding also allows for the delivery of quality information service 
to non-research IMA staff.   Funds to facilitate the subscription to the online scientific platform such as 
Elsevier were acquired. A pre-bundled, pay-per-download article at a cost of TTD 21,000.00 for 150 
articles was sourced. In fiscal 2018-2019, the Library also expended TTD 6,000.00 on print resources and 
periodical subscription renewals. The total expenditure for the period was TTD 27,000.00, an increase 
of TTD 5,000.00 over fiscal 2017-2018.  This however represents a significant decline in expenditure 
when compared to fiscal 2014-2015 when TTD 255,000.00 was expended on information resources; a 
reduction of TTD 228,000.00. 

The budgetary allocation is inadequate to purchase resources needed in support of research programmes 
and projects.  The number of research projects continue to increase at the IMA, but the information 
resources needed to support that level of research continues to experience a shortfall. This can 
potentially adversely impact the Institute’s research output and quality. 

resourCe shAriNg 
Not to be deterred by inadequate budgetary allocations, the Library strengthened its resource sharing 
networks to include the libraries of the Environmental Management Authority and the University of 
Trinidad and Tobago to the existing arrangement with The University of the West Indies (UWI) Alma 
Jordan Library for the period under review.  This enables all three libraries to share digital peer-reviewed 
journal articles and other published digital content upon request.  The Library was able to successfully 
address eleven (11) research requests specific to actual references using the resource sharing network 
for fiscal 2018-2019.

soCiAl mediA ACCouNTs 
As social media networks become more robust, enhanced with the advent of 5G, it has become more 
commonplace for persons to begin their information or research enquiry on the Internet using mobile 
devices.  In light of the foregoing, the IMA Library started using the social media messaging service, 
WhatsApp to convey and disseminate information to the public.  Additionally, two requests were 
received from Facebook, which demonstrates the need to ensure that our original reports can be found 
anytime, anywhere and on any device. As a result, the Library has already taken proactive steps to 
preserve the Institute’s intellectual content, both print and digital, for upload onto social media accounts 
and most mobile devices.
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liBrAry serviCes
Beyond our bookshelves, expanding the Institute’s services to its clients took many forms, which include 
reference and virtual information services, select dissemination of information (SDI) services, exhibition 
and displays and use of physical space to name a few. The following section provides a report on the 
library services for the period under review.

Reference Services
During fiscal 2018-2019 the IMA Library answered 216 information queries in a timely and satisfactorily 
manner, a 10% decrease from the previous fiscal period.  Queries came in via the following means:

• internal (staff) information requests, 
• public walk-in requests, 
• structured public visits, 
• e-mail requests, 
• website queries, and 
• social media requests (Facebook and WhatsApp).  

Out of the total of two hundred and sixteen (216) requests received, internal enquiries from staff 
accounted for sixty-five (65), members of the public who visited the Library fifty-two (52) members of 
the public visited the library and thirty-one (31) came from university students  who were a part of two 
separate organised visits. Via e-mail, fifty-three (53) research queries were received and addressed, 
eleven (11) information queries were received via the Institute’s website, and for the first time four 
queries were received via social media accounts – two via Facebook and two via WhatsApp accounts.  All 
queries were satisfactorily addressed on average within four hours.

 

Figure No. XX – Reference Services – query category 2018-2019

Selective Dissemination of Environmental News Information System (SDENIS) – 
The goal of the Library’s SDENIS service is to connect our research staff to the most current research 
findings relevant to their respective research interests. The service helps to bring a different perspective 
on topical environmental issues as well as keep research staff abreast of emerging environmental issues. 
Armed with the knowledge of each researcher’s field of study and current research projects, library staff 
scan relevant online blogs and directory of open-access journals and related marine environmental 
platforms with the use of RSS Feeds, for relevant data. For the period under review, access to 127 online 
marine environmental reports and news were disseminated to the four research programmes.  This 
represents a seven percent (7%) increase from the previous fiscal 2017-2018.
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Interlibrary Loan Service 
The Interlibrary loan service and the resource sharing arrangement have assisted the Library to acquire 
permanent access to useful and relevant journal articles that would enhance research output, ensure 
continued availability, and enhance collection development.  For the period under review, the Library 
received 12 electronic peer-reviewed articles from the Environmental Management Authority (EMA) 
Library, The University of the West Indies Alma Jordan Library and the University of Trinidad and Tobago 
(UTT) under the resource sharing arrangement while a few books were borrowed from The University of 
the West Indies Alma Jordan Library under the interlibrary loan service.

Newspaper Bibliography Service  
A bibliography of newspaper articles written by IMA Staff from 1982 to the present was disseminated 
four times for Fiscal 2019 with an update for the most recent bibliography.
  
Subject-related enquiries comprised the following topics: blue economy; climate change; aquaculture 
and fisheries; beach profiles and beaches and bays; coral reefs bleaching events; UN Decade of Oceans 
of Sustainable Science 2021-2030; marine debris and litter; marine spatial planning; fish kills and 
sargassum and marine invasive species (Lionfish); wetlands; coastal erosion and tidal currents and 
remote sensing. 
 
Exhibits and Displays  
The IMA Library mounted exhibitions to raise awareness on the significance of United Nations 
Commemorative Days of World Wetlands Day (2nd February 2019), World Biodiversity Day (22nd May 
2019), World Environment Day (5th June 2019) and World Oceans Day (8th June 2019).  An exhibit was 
mounted to commemorate the national icons and unsung heroes for our 55th National Independence of 
the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. Additionally, 20 newspaper articles, which were written by Staff 
and published in the Daily Express, Trinidad Guardian, Tobago Today and Tobago Newsday, were mounted 
on Display Board in the Library for the period under review.
 
Stakeholder Engagement via Information Dissemination 
The Library disseminated a total of twenty-four (24) IMA research reports, in print and electronic 
formats, to the Library of the Ministry of Planning and Development and NALIS 
The dissemination of these reports enables the Library to promote the transfer of knowledge and make 
available the Institute’s research publications to the scientific community, government ministries, state 
agencies and non-governmental organisations. 
 
Freedom of Information (FOI) Requests 
There were two information requests for IMA publications made under the Freedom of Information 
(FOI) Act for the period under review.  Requests were made for the publication entitled, “Potential 
Locations for Port Development in Northeast Trinidad” and “The full report on the investigation on the 
oil spill conducted by IMA”, by Friends and Fishermen of the Sea (FFOS)
 
Physical Space 
While modern society’s preference is quickly adapting to the use of virtual information services instead 
of visiting the Library, usage of the library’s physical space to convene meetings continues to increase. 
The Library received and fulfilled forty-eight (48) requests to use its physical area. Additionally, the 
Library hosted a mini version of the Beyond the Blue Exhibition to enable staff, who were unable to 
attend the Exhibition, to experience some of the immersive elements of the Exhibition with the use of 
the Virtual Reality Goggles. A total of thirty-three (33) staff members participated in the event.
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Library Operations
Library operations refer to the acquisition, cataloguing and classification and storage of information 
resources.  The following highlights the major operational activities undertaken to advance the research 
objectives for Fiscal 2018-2019.

Collection Development 
A total of ninety-two (92) publications were added to the Library’s Collections, of which thirty-three (33) 
publications were digitized, thirty-one (31) items were downloaded from open-access peer-reviewed 
websites, twelve (12) publications were received via an e-mail resource sharing arrangement and eight 
items were received as gifts from international environmental organisations and agencies.     

WIDECAST Donation - New to the library collection and available for loan to researchers and for the 
public viewing is the Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (WIDECAST) containing eight 
research reports on turtle protection and conservation. The collection was contributed in honour and 
memory of a staff Member – Mr. Parks Lewis. 

Newspaper Clippings – Because newspapers provide current local content that strengthens an 
information service, newspapers are airmarked for sourcing articles and news reports related to marine 
environment. For the period under review, a total of two hundred and seventy-seven (277) newspaper 
articles, relevant to the marine environment, were identified, captured, and saved to related folders. 

Collection Management 
Collection management refers to the cataloguing, classification, and processing of publications. Fifty-
three (53) publications were catalogued, resulting in ease of retrieval, reference and use.

Collection Management: Preservation – The Library’s digitisation project continued for the period under 
review delivering high quality digitised content. A total of thirty-three (33) publications comprising 
regional and national reports on the marine environment were digitised in archival quality. Four research 
maps and two IMA brochures were digitised to preserve corporate and intellectual memory.

The following Table 1 provides key activities and performance indicators for the period under review.

(R - L) Anjani Ganase Phd, Coral Reef Ecologist, 
describes the imagery while a Staff member takes 
in the immersive experience with use of V/R 
goggles

Bordered by colourful exhibits, a Staff member 
quietly enjoys the immersive experience with use 
of V/R goggles
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Table 1 IMA Library - Key Performance Indicators Fiscal 2018 and 2019

Library Key Performance Indicators – Fiscal 2018 and 2019
Fiscal Periods 2017-2018 2018-2019
Library Services – Activity Total Total
Circulation of IMA Publications 33 41
Staff Users of the Library 52 45
Queries
Internal Queries  
Public Walk-in Queries
Structured Groups (Schools and public)                 
E-mail Queries                                                  
Website Queries
Social Media Account Queries                                                                 

240
(53)
(76)
(71)
(29)
(10)
(01)

216
(65)
(52)
(31)
(53)
(11)
(04)

Data Requests                                              12 03
Freedom of Information Requests 1 02
Physical Displays / Exhibitions                                                        
Electronic Displays                                                      

5
5

4
6

Commemorative Publications sold 5
Reprographics Services TTD $ 81.55
Library Space used for Meetings 31 48

Library Operations – Activity
New Publication (Gratis) Additions 26 20
Downloaded publications 87 31
Cataloguing and Classification of publications 42 53
Digitization of IMA Research Reports and other publications 39 33
Newspaper Clipping Articles 400 277
User Feedback 
Assess the helpfulness and friendliness of Library Staff 75% very satisfied

25% satisfied
77% very satisfied
23% somewhat 
satisfied

Assess overall library service 59.4 % very satisfied
37.5 % satisfied
3.1% partially sat-
isfied

54% very satisfied
22% satisfied
24% somewhat 
satisfied

Assess the relevance and currency of content 91% satisfied
9% partially satisfied

48% very satisfied
52% partially sat-
isfied
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HUMAN RESOURCE DEPARTMENT
The intellectual asset is an important resource for the Institute having regard to its mandate and function 
as a multi-disciplinary marine and environmental research organisation. The organisation must manage 
this asset so that the strategic and financial objectives of the Institute can be realized.  The human 
resource programme is, therefore, geared to ensuring the right level of human asset, with the pre-
requite training, experience and skill sets are attracted, recruited and retained. 

Economic constraints have, however, meant that the Institute has had to employ novel ways to attract 
and retain talent as well as optimize the existing talent and/or available resources in order to meet our 
mandate.

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES 2018-2019
The Human Resource Department engaged in a number of strategic initiatives to modernize the human 
resource function and aid the development of an organisational culture in support of the Strategic Plan 
2018-2019

The following Human Resource Management approaches therefore utilised during the period:

Human Resource Information System – (HRPLUS)
The Human Resource Department along with the Information Technology Department continue to work 
closely with HRPLUS Team to have the computerisation of Leave Administration Online Self-Service 
Module implemented.

Employees would be able to directly query the system for details on their leave balances, medical 
coverage and other personal information.  Managers would also be able to query the system for 
employee information needed to assist them in efficiently managing staff.    Proper implementation of 
this online self-service module of HRPLUS would allow the human resource staff to focus more attention 
on more strategic matters.

Human Resource Policy Development
A review of the existing Personnel Policy Manual has commenced and will be upgraded to a Human 
Resource Policy Manual. The Human Resources Department will ensure that all policies and procedures 
embrace and reinforce the philosophies and values of the desired organisation culture.  

The Human Resource Policy Manual is also being reviewed to ensure its alignment with the IMA’s 
Collective Agreement, the Labour Laws of Trinidad and Tobago and contemporary best practice. An 
Employee Handbook, summarising these policies, will also be produced and distributed to all staff.

Human Resource Planning and Staffing
In keeping with the revised organigram as captured in the Strategic Plan 2019-2024, the Human Resource 
Department sought to begin filling positions with individuals who are assessed by the Institute to be 
capable of discharging the duties and responsibilities of the post. Filling the vacant Research Heads 
positions are critical owing to the mandate of the organisation. Experienced and competent individuals 
are needed to provide leadership and guidance to the technical and research functions within the 
organisation. Delivery of the organisational goals and objectives are also related to the quality of 
individuals filling senior management positions. Managers are currently retained on contract. Successful 
attainment of the organisational’s goals and institutional strengthening necessitate that senior officers, 
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upon successful completion of a probationary period, be transitioned to long-term, permanent 
engagement. Some disciplines and skill set require expertise that attract compensation at market rates 
which may be above rates at the Institute. 

In light of the foregoing, innovative means of securing the necessary expertise will continue to be 
implemented, for example the acceptance of short-term attachments of experts to the IMA to conduct 
research in areas that augment our data holdings. 

The Institute’s Research Fellowship Programme will continue to be used as a means of encouraging the 
development of specialised skills in the various areas of study, while at the same time harnessing the 
resource to assist in the research activities.

The Summer Internship Programme will continue to give university students the opportunity to get 
involved and assist in research activities and thereby encourage students to consider careers in marine 
research.

Compensation and Benefits
The Institute is funded by government therefore salaries and allowances are constrained by pay scales 
in the general public service, which in turn are affected by the economic circumstances of the peroid.   
Nevertheless, efforts were made to amicably conclude negotiations on all outstanding Collective 
Agreements for the 2013 – 2016 and 2016 – 2019 bargaining periods.  The calculation and application 
of payment and record of all claims for overtime and compensatory time earned was continued by the 
Human Resource Department. 

Benefits, the non-cash element of the total compensation package, are a substantive cost item is being 
met by the Institute.  Benefits, however, provide a powerful alternative to a few more tax-free dollars 
and can be critical to the competitiveness of the compensation strategy.  Group Health Insurance, 
Pension Plan, Life Insurance, Employee Assistance Prpgrammes, Commuting Assistance, staggered work 
hours, subsided loans and advances, special allowances and uniforms are some of the benefits already 
enjoyed by the staff.   The Human Resource Department will continue to review the present programme 
of benefits to ensure that the needs of the employees are being met and to ensure that each benefit is 
supportive to achieving the Institute’s strategies, goals and desired organisational culture.

The Human Resource Department is undertaking a comprehensive job evaluation and compensation 
exercise that is tied to the Institute’s Strategic Plan to ensure that senior positions which do not fall 
under the Bargaining Units are properly compensated based on the reasonable market value of the jobs. 

SERVICE DELIVERY
The following is an account of services provided to the organisation by the Human Resource Department.

Orientation
New or recently recruited employee will continue to participate in a Structured Orientation Training 
Programme organised by the Human Resource Department.  At this training session employees are 
informed of the role and function of the Institute and the strategies being employed for accomplishing 
its mandate.  The ground rules for success at the Institute, the philosophies governing Institute’s 
operations namely, excellence and professionalism, and the Human Resource Policies (that is personal 
conduct and safety) are discussed with staff. 
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Training and Development 
Training is an important and necessary process of staff development.  Constant improvement of job-
related skills and development of higher-level skills are mandatory if the Institute is to successfully fulfil 
its mandate of becoming a premier scientific research institution.  The Institute continues, where 
possible, to provide support for the training needs of staff by either full or partial funding or proving 
assistance in accessing external funding.

Research and support staff are encouraged to pursue higher research degrees in fields of study that 
relate the organisation’s mandate. Research staff are permitted to utilise the research they undertake at 
the IMA in pursuit of their higher degrees.  Where it is necessary that staff attend full time study, the 
Institute may consider the granting of study leave in conformity with the policy on Study Leave.    

Additionally, the new organisational structure proposes that the post of Secretary be upgraded to that 
of Administrative Assistant.  The Institute will support the existing secretarial staff to acquire the 
necessary higher-level skills through participation in the APS Diploma Course at UWI.
 
Emphasis on management development training will continue during this strategic period.   Management 
staff will be trained in areas such as Communication, Team Building, Leadership, Conflict Management 
and Industrial Relations.

In keeping with the strategic objective to obtain laboratory accreditation, laboratory staff will undergo 
training in the requirements of such accreditations in the short term.

More and more the ability to communicate in a clear, unambiguous manner is critical to the success of 
the researcher. A workshop in Effective Report Writing will be conducted for research staff. 

All persons responsible for supervising staff on an on-going basis would be exposed to short term 
Supervisory Training.  Technical competence alone is inadequate in the making of a professional.  It has 
become more apparent that there is need to instruct staff in the expected behaviours of a professional 
in the workplace. Professional Development training will be conducted for all research officers, 
supervisory and management staff. 

Defensive Driving Course will continue to be a requirement and offered to all drivers of IMA vehicles.  All 
drivers of Institute vehicles will be required to participate in this training, whether as a first-time 
participant or as a refresher. Training of department heads and supervisors in industrial safety will 
inform heads/supervisors on their responsibilities for maintaining a safe working environment and the 
need for employees observe safety precautions in the course of their duties.

The Institute conducts its research through multidisciplinary teams working on research projects of a 
specific duration.  Training in Project Management would assist Researchers and other senior staff in 
efficiently and effectively managing projects. 

Opportunities for undertaking collaborative research with scientists in the Latin American countries are 
always available, therefore it would be advantageous to the IMA if staff were bilingual. The Institute 
would encourage and support its staff to learn Spanish. The IMA is also host of the Regional Activity 
Centre (English Speaking Caribbean) for the United National Environmental Programme and the Human 
Resource Department will continue to support the IMA to ensure staff can deliver the organisation’s 
commitments.

More specific training needs will be identified when the annual research work plan is completed.  The 
Human Resource Department will collaborate with the department heads to determine the skills and 
competence gaps and to develop training strategies to reduce and/or eliminate these gaps wherever 
possible.  As such a new annual training schedule is being developed to coordinate all training and 
growth initiatives at the Institute.
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Performance Management
In the quest for organisational excellence the existing Performance Management System will continue to 
be utilised more effectively as staff and managers become more familiar with the System.  Sensitization 
is ongoing for both management and staff with regard to how the performance appraisal tool is to be 
administered. All employees will know what their role and function and what they will be held 
accountable for with relation to their Key Performance Indicators and Key Behaviour/Competence Areas.     

Employee Relations
The Human Resource Department will continue to promote and encourage employee wellbeing and 
work life balance initiatives through a number of initiatives including health and wellness fairs. The 
Department also extends personal Birthday greetings to staff and provide timely information for posting 
in the IMA’s Internal Newsletter regarding staff achievements and successes.  All successes are 
highlighted and celebrated throughout the Institute. The following were the activities for the period 
staged with the assistance of the Information Centre.

An “Independence Fashion Runway” competition was hosted by Human Resources Department, as staff 
wore our national colours of red, white and black to celebrate our Independence Day and win prizes of 
Peter Elias vouchers and Pricesmart vouchers on 30th August 2019.

A Blood Donation drive was hosted by the Human Resources Department at the IMA on 5th September 
2019 for staff to donate. 

A Health Fair was hosted by the Human Resources Department on 13th September 2019 by the North 
West Regional Health Authority. 

IMA’s Christmas brunch was celebrated on 14th December 2018 in the auditorium with staff members 
sharing good will and cheer during the festive season.

All staff members were invited to the Staff Events and Social Affairs Association (SEASAA) first general 
meeting on 23rd November 2018 in the auditorium. Nominations for various positions were announced, 
followed by elections of the Association’s executive members; Chairman – Tyann Henry, Vice Chairman 
– Ben Maharaj, Secretary – Amelia Williams, Treasurer – Dawn Mc Intosh-Caesar, Associate Members’ 
Representative – Selman Andrews. 
The Executive Committee’s first planning meeting was held on 28 November 2018 and the SEASAA was 
designated as being responsible for the planning and coordinating of IMA’s staff events, social affairs, 
fund raisers and voluntary efforts, as indicated by Director. Persons eligible for membership include 
current and past staff members and persons related to IMA staff. 
Fostering the spirit of camaraderie, staff were treated to a flavourful fish broth luncheon, courtesy the 
Operations Department on 30th November 2018. 

IMA’s SEASAA/Green Team organised IMA’s participation in a Trash Tag Challenge at Hart’s Cut, 
Chaguaramas on 22nd March 2019. 

A surprise Mother’s Day Celebration, organized by male staff of the Institute, was held on 10th May, 
2019.  Tokens, lunch and drinks were shared with all. 

A surprise Father’s Day event, which was organized by the ladies, was celebrated on 14th June 2019.  
Lunch was served and tokens were procured and given to all male staff of the Institute.

Industrial Relations
The Seamen and Waterfront Workers’ Trade Union is the recognised bargaining agent for the Institute’s 
staff.  The Institute continues to have good relations with the Union and it is anticipated that this 
relationship would be maintained through good human resource management.  Through the Human 
Resource Department, the Institute together with the Union will maintain effective arrangements for 
negotiations, consultations, communication and the settling of grievances. 
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The Human Resource Department continues to oversee the proper implementation of the terms and 
conditions agreed to in the Collective Agreements. 

Conflict Management
Conflict emerges when difference, disagreements, annoyances, competition or inequities exist.  Conflict 
could exist at different levels and although it is difficult, it can have positive results if managed properly. 
The role of the Human Resource Department would be to facilitate the resolution of conflicts at whatever 
levels it may exist in the organisation before it affects negatively on performance.

Employee Services
The Human Resource Department will continue to administer the Group Plans namely, the Group Health 
Plan, Travel Insurance and Group Life Plans. The department will continue to administer employment, 
industrial and executive medicals and the issuance of staff uniforms (including field gear).  

The department’s role as the official liaison with the Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) Service 
Provider and Chair of the EAP Steering Committee will continue.  As part of the EAP activities, educational 
workshops to promote mental and emotional wellbeing were delivered.  Other activities to promote 
greater use of the programme will also be undertaken. 

Health and Safety
The Human Resource Department, through participation on the Health and Safety Committee, would 
continue to monitor and oversee the health and safety of workers at the Institute to create a safe 
working environment.   
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
The Information Technology Department (ITD) is responsible for innovating and appropriate deployment 
of technology to support the needs of the Institute and its stakeholders. The IT Department provides 
organisational support in the following areas.

• IT Governance and Policy Development
• Management of Data and Information Systems
• Management of Network, Communication and Computer Systems
• IT Service Helpdesk Support

During the period October 2018 to September 2019 the Information Technology (IT) Department 
undertook various upgrades and transformation Projects in these functional areas.

Installation and Upgrade of the IMA’s Storage Area Network 
(SAN) 
In September 2019 the ITD successfully completed the installation and commissioning of a Storage Area 
Network.  A Storage Area Network (SAN) is a secure high speed data network or subnetwork that 
provides access to interconnected storage arrays. The Installation of the SAN in the IMA added an 
approximately fifteen (15) terabytes of storage space to the IMA’s data infrastructure. This storage space 
will be used to house the repository component of progarmme and department databases. 

Migration to HRplus LIVE
In August of 2019 the ITD successfully completed the migration /cut over from the Train environment to 
the LIVE environment.  HRplus is used within the IMA to manage and calculate leave and salary 
information. The version of HRplus which was being utilized prior to August 2019 was a beta version/test 
version. As such there were significant constraints regarding backing up of information, maintenance, 
security, patch management and the application of upgrades. As such it was decided that the LIVE 
version would be utilized so the IMA could benefit from proper upgrade, and patch management. 
Moreover, the LIVE version included fixes to resolve existing problems within the beta version which was 
currently being used. Together with HRplus Limited the ITD successfully decommissioned the beta 
version and was able to install and commission the LIVE version without losing any data!       

Windows 10 Upgrade
In an effort to capitalise on the advances in consumer computer operating systemsit was deemed 
prudent to upgrade all existing desktops and laptops within the IMA network landscape.  This would 
provide considerable benefits to users including enhanced security and access to additional features not 
available in Windows 7.  As such in July 2019 the ITD embarked upon this project and saw the upgrade 
of close to one hundred (100) computer devices within the IMA.   The project was successfully completed 
in August 2019. 

Coordination and Management of Beyond the Blue Event 
Platform &  Mobile Application
To support and offer a high-end technological look and feel to the IMA’s inaugural Beyond the Blue 
Exhibition, the ITD employed the online services of Whova. Whova is an all-in-one online event 
management solution with an accompanying mobile app that provides events (such as the IMA’s ‘Beyond 
the Blue Exhibition) with a modern and trendy look and feel. It attracts and engages attendees effectively 
and helps event organizers save time when managing event logistics. Moreover, it delivers value to users 
by giving the relevant information about the event with which attendees can use to maximize their 
attendance at the event.  The service and mobile application were successfully used for the event and 
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engaged many persons both who attended and presented in the event. 

Fig 1.0 Whoova Dashboard Metrics Event Engagement

Fig 1.1 Whoova’s Attendee Breakdown Dashboard

Established IMA’s Live Streaming Capability 
The ITD was able to successfully establish IMA’s Live Streaming capacity. Most events (Symposia, Public 
Lecture Series etc.) which took place between September 2018 and October 2019 were live streamed 
via the IMA’s Facebook page.  Some of these events took place within the confines of the IMA and 
outside of the IMA, with one taking place in Tobago.  Such initiatives sought to strengthen IMA’s online 
engagement through its social media channels- in this case via Facebook with our stakeholders (regionally 
& international) and by extension the citizenry.  Over the period more than one thousand (1000) views, 
with many persons sharing various posts, were achieved. 

Deployment of Tablets to the IMA’s Board of Governors
In keeping with a Board decision taken in February 2018 the Information Technology Department was 
given the responsibility of recommending an appropriate business tablet which could be utilised by the 
Institute’s Board of Governors to satisfy their user requirements.  In February 2019 the ITD was 
successfully able to recommend a cost effective, high performance tablet which was is aimed at being 
portable, reduce administrative expenditure (by minimising paper & printing of Board documents) as 
well as enhance the operational efficacy and productivity of the Board. In March 2019 the ITD successfully 
purchased, configured and deployed six (6) tablets to the Board of Governors.
 

Management of Data and Information Systems
Management of enterprise-wide software licenses and related services are managed via IMA’s an 
outdated SharePoint Service Portal. As such, SharePoint is seen as one of the key applications, which will 
be used to further propel the Institute forward regarding content and data management. As such, within 
the reporting period cursory discussions were held with iGovTT to discuss a way forward regarding the 
creation of a project to implement SharePoint within the IMA.  Renewed emphasis has been placed on 
Data Management, as data is seen as the currency of the Institution. Database repositories were 
developed for Geology, Trace Metals, Nutrient and Microbiology. The Geology Database has been 
populated with over eleven thousand records. The ITD is therefore on the cusp of finalising the 
application for general use by the Institute’s researchers. 

Access to the Oracle’s cloud Platform was obtained by the IMA’s Data Officer. Data is stored via an 
on-premise SQL Server database and attempts are being made to display the date contained within the 
various databases via a PowerBi 

IT Service Helpdesk
Over three hundred (300) IT Helpdesk Tickets were completed over the reporting period. A Service 
Catalogue of available IT functions and associated fulfilment timeframes was developed to set service 
expectations, track and understand patterns of repair within the organisation.  As such trends are easily 
identified (for instance the occurrence of SPAM) and instead of addressing on an individual level, it is 
collectively addressed. 

Challenges
• The major challenges of the IT Department over the period were:
• An aging IT infrastructure
• Financial Constraints
• Staff Retention 
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OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT
The Operations Department remains committed to supporting the activities of the organisation through 
the provision of functional and adequate facilities, vessels and vehicles. The Department also provides 
manpower and assistance to the IMA for special projects.   

An Operations Manager supported by a Secretary, Health Safety Security and Environment Officer  two 
Craftsmen, an Electrician , two Boat Captains, a Launch Engineer, a Deck Hand,  one Mechanic and two 
Grounds Men work collaboratively to provide support the work of the IMA.

SERVICE DELIVERY 2018-2019
Despite funding challenges, the Department delivered the following:
 

1. A Revised Scope of Works for emergency electrical works in the Administration 
Building. In-house personnel carried out those repairs.

2.  Successful installation and commissioning of the freight elevator.

3. Successful installation and commissioning of the new chilled-water system.

4. Salvaged elements of the old ThyssenKrupp service lift to construct a shed to shelter 
the service ramp area (work ongoing).

5. Revised the Scope of Works for the janitorial services and in collaboration with other 
managers, invited tenders and recommended an award for a new janitorial service 
provider.

6. Halted the outsourced cleaning of IMA’s vehicles and implemented a process for the 
vehicles to be cleaned in-house.

7. Revised the Scope of Works for the pest control services and recommended an award 
for a new service provider. The frequency of this service has been increased due to 
the high infestation rate and the facility being located on the fringes of a forested 
area.

8. Dry-docked the IMA’s vessel, the ML Kanawa, effected repairs and repainted the 
vessel.

9. Developed Scope of Works, Bill of Quantities and other documents for the Electrical 
Grounding Ring and Lightning Protection project (emergency works). This project was 
successful managed and brought to completion on 16th August 2019.

10. Developed Scope of Works, Bill of Quantities and other documents for the Demolition 
of Building 6 (B6) and Refurbishment of Building 7 (B7). This project is currently at 
eighty-five percent (85%) completion.

11. Developed Scope of Works, Bill of Quantities and other documents for the Geotechnical 
Soil Investigation (Tobago Field Station). This has be submitted to the Board of 
Governors for final approval.

12. Disposed of e-waste elements from the IMA compound.

13. Proposed five new projects under the PSIP for the IMA fiscal year 2019-2020, all 
projects have seen approvals at the Ministry of Planning and Development.

14. Addressed all maintenance issues at the facility during the above period.

15. Started the construction of Mariculture facility at the IMA which is ninety percent 
(90%) completed. 

16. Received funding for two projects proposed under the PSIP to a value of TT$600,000
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS

UNAUDITED BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 September 2019

       2019               2018

                                                                        Notes         TT$              TT$

ASSETS     

Non-Current Assets

Fixed Assets                                                         5 43,327,541 42,753,786

Total Non-Current Assets 43,327,541 42,753,786

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and bank 2,182,858 14,326,888

Investments 35,225,424 28,387,523

Accounts Receivable 185,027 307,516

Goods in Transit 255,686 1,181,077

VAT 164,788 166,358

Prepayments & Other Assets 3,115,372 3,674,072

Total Current Assets 41,129,155 48,043,434

TOTAL ASSETS                                                  84,456,696 90,797,220

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Revaluation reserves 531,918 531,918

Retained Earnings                                                     24,763,632 30,767,828

Non-Current Liabilities 25,295,550 31,299,746

Pension Plan Liability                                          4   1,305,898 1,292,316

Deferred Income                                                     54,791,412 55,991,412

Retentions                                                                   1,304,090 1,163,688

Total Non-Current Liabilities                                  57,401,400 58,447,416

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable                                                       513,807 320,498

Accruals & other Liabilities 1,245,939 729,560

Total Current Liabilities                                             1,759,746 1,050,058

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES       
            

84,456,696 90,797,220

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS

UNAUDITED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
For the year ended September 30, 2019

              2019                      2018

                                                              Note                 TT$                     TT$

INCOME
 

Government Funds 20,242,860 25,761,658

Interest 367,211 346,659

(Loss)/Gain on Foreign Exchange                                  (14,374) 4,706

(Loss)/Gain on Asset Disposal (238,690) 34,062

Non-Government Income 273,847 215,608

Total Income 20,630,854 26,362,693

EXPENDITURE

Salaries & Related Cost 16,546,889 16,081,021

Administrative Expenses                       6 3,690,121 4,031,948

Maintenance & Repairs 1,352,014 1,490,979

Research Expenses                                                    1,052,380 1,211,435

Audit fees 100,913 100,913

Board remuneration 385,009 369,432

Depreciation Expense 3,384,333 3,230,754

Total Expenses                                                         26,511,659 26,516,482

(Deficit) for the period (5,880,805) (153,789)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unrealized Gain/(Loss) on Investment 232,064 (127,409)

Pension Plan Adjustment (355,455) (950,443)

Total Comprehensive Income (6,004,196) (1,231,641)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS
UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
September 30, 2019

2019 2018

TT$ TT$

Accumulated surplus brought forward 30,767,828 31,752,404

Capital contribution - 247,072

Loss for the period (6,004,196) (1,231,641)

Accumulated surplus carried forward 24,763,632 30,767,828

          

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



IMA Annual Administrative Report  2018 - 2019

53

INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS
UNAUDITED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended September 30, 2019

2019      2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES TT$    TT$

Deficit for the period (6,004,196) (1,231,641)

Adjustments:

Depreciation 3,384,333 3,230,754

Unrealized (Gain)/Loss on Investments (232,064) 127,409

Loss/(Gain) on Asset Disposals 238,690 (34,062)

Deferred Income (1799,109) (4,200,000)

Increase in Pension Plan Liability 13,582 950,443

Unrealized Foreign Currency (Gain) (14,374) (4,706)

Net cash used in Operating Activities           (4,413,138) (1,161,803)

Decrease/(Increase) in Trade and Other Receivables 1,608,150 (918,003)

Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors and Accruals 709,687 (422,680)

Changes in Operating Assets & Liabilities 2,317,837 (1,340,683)

Net Cash used in Operations (2,095,301) (2,502,486)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital grants received 599,109 3,000,000

Purchase of Fixed Assets (4,059,114) (862,256)

Proceeds from disposal of Assets 2,739 41,170

Net cash flow investing activities (3,457,266) 2,178,914

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Unrealized Foreign Currency Gain 14,374 4,706

Unrealized  Gain/(Loss) on Investments 232,064 (127,409)

Net cash flow from financing activities 246,438 (122,703)

Net Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,306,129) (446,275)

Cash Balance at Beg. of period 42,714,411   43,160,686

Cash Balance at End of Period 37,408,282 42,714,411

Represented by:

Cash at bank 2,182,858 14,326,888

Investments 35,225,424 28,387,523

37,408,282 42,714,411

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - September 30, 2019

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

The Institute was established by an Act of Parliament of Trinidad and Tobago on 10th May 1976, Chapter 
37:01 of the Laws of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago refers.  This Act was amended by Act #13 of 
1990.

The principal activities are: 

a. to develop and implement programmes and  projects that translate the marine 
and related policies of the Government into activities that contribute to national 
development;

b. to develop and execute programmes and projects that foster and encourage 
regional and international collaboration in the exploitation of the marine and 
other related areas of the environment;

c. to promote a public understanding of and appreciation for all aspects of  the 
marine and related environment;

d. to stimulate and advance the conduct of marine scientific research in Trinidad 
and Tobago;

e. to promote the utilisation and conservation of the marine resources for the 
economic and social benefit of Trinidad and Tobago and to enhance the national 
capabilities;

f. to do all such things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above 
objects.

2. REPORTING CURRENCY

These financial statements are expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Accounting Convention 
These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention 
and in accordance with approved accounting standards. No account is taken of 
the effects of inflation.

b. Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable are stated net of provision for bad and doubtful debts.  The 
provision for doubtful debts remains unchanged from 2017.

c. Fixed Assets 
Fixed assets are depreciated at rates estimated to write off the depreciable 
amounts of the fixed assets over their useful lives.

The annual depreciation rates used are: -

 Category     Method   Rate
 Buildings and improvement works   Straight line  2%
 Plant and machinery    Reducing balance 10-25%
 Computer Equipment    Reducing balance 33%
 Furniture and fittings    Reducing balance 10%
 Marine vessels     Reducing balance 25%
 Motor vehicles     Reducing balance 25%
 Reference and resource materials   Reducing balance 10%
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - September 30, 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

d. Income 
The Government of Trinidad and Tobago funds most of the operations of the 
Institute by means of monthly subventions.  These are recognized on a cash 
basis and credited to income.

e. Deferred Income 
Grants from Government, related to the purchase of fixed assets, are deferred 
and credited to revenue over the useful life of the assets concerned.

f. Taxation 
The Institute may be exempted from payment of, or the Government shall bear 
the cost of any taxes, customs duties, fees or levies which may be imposed on 
the Institute in respect of any equipment, materials and supplies imported into 
Trinidad and Tobago by the Institute which are essential for its operations

g. Foreign currency 
Transactions involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates prevailing 
on the dates of such transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
at the rate prevailing at the Balance Sheet date.  Exchange gains and losses are 
taken directly to the Income and Expenditure Account. 
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - September 30, 2019

4. FIXED ASSET

Property, plant and 
equipment

LAND & 
BUILDINGS

CAPITAL 
WORK IN 

PROGRESS
MOTOR 
VEHICLE

PLANT & 
MACHINERY 

REFER-
ENCE & 

RESOURCE
FURNITURE 
& FIXTURES TOTAL

Year ended 30 Sep-
tember 2018        

Opening book value 
2018 30,907,406 1,019,360 459,175 7,761,522 190,666 2,415,654 42,753,783

Transfers (370,294) 370,294 -

Additions 469,785 1,307,498 2,254,810 27,024 4,059,114

Retentions 140,402

Disposals (1,651,468) (1,334) (1,652,802)

Depreciation on 
Disposal 1,411,372 1,411,372

Depreciation charge (548,717) (114,794) (2,458,259) (19,185) (243,378) (3,384,333)

Closing net book 
value 30,458,181 2,467,260 344,383 7,688,271 171,479 2,197,966 43,327,541

 

At 30 September 
2019

Accumulated Cost 39,684,323 2,467,260 1,915,575 45,934,693 1,259,545 5,940,776 97,202,172

Accumulated depre-
ciation (9,226,142) - (1,571,193) (38,246,421) (1,088,066) (3,742,810) (53,874,632)

Net book value 2019 30,458,181 2,467,260 344,383 7,688,271 171,479 2,197,966 43,327,541

        

Year ended 30 Sep-
tember 2018        

Opening book value 
2017 31,696,285 1,019,360 476,720 8,266,356 212,173 2,679,514 44,350,409

Transfers 247,062 247,062

Additions 857,432 4,826 862,258

Disposals (584,372) (912,340) (83,575) (1,580,287)

Revaluations 110,000 421,918 531,918

Depreciation on 
Disposal 575,406 914,521 83,251 1,573,177

Depreciation charge (788,878) (118,580) (2,033,427) (21,507) (268,362) (3,230,754)

Closing net book 
value 30,907,406 1,019,360 459,175 7,761,522 190,666 2,415,654 42,753,783

 

At 30 September 
2018 39,584,831 1,019,360 1,915,575 44,961,056 1,259,545 5,915,086 94,655,453

Accumulated Cost

Accumulated depre-
ciation (8,677,425) (1,456,400) (37,199,534) (1,068,879) (3,499,432) (51,901,670)

Net book value 2018 30,907,406 1,019,360 459,175 7,761,522 190,666 2,415,654 42,753,783
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INSTITUTE OF MARINE AFFAIRS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - September 30, 2019 

5. PENSION PLAN LIABILITY

The Institute’s pension plan is a defined benefit plan. The plan is operated by virtue of a Trust Deed 
made on 8th June 1990 between the Institute of Marine Affairs and the Trustees of the Plan. The assets 
supporting the Plan are invested through a Deposit Administration Policy with an insurance company.

Effective October 1st, 1999, the Institute adopted the provisions of International Accounting Standard 
19 Employee Benefits (IAS 19) (Revised). It treated with the transitional asset as an adjustment to the 
opening retained earnings of that period because it was impracticable to restate the comparative 
information of prior periods.

6. ADMINISTRATION

Included in Administration expenditure is the cost attributable to a 30 year lease agreement between 
the Chaguaramas Development Authority (CDA) and the IMA.  This lease is an operating lease and 
provides for an annual rent of $12,000 over the total period of the lease.

 
7. SEVERANCE BENEFITS

Under the provisions of the Retrenchment and Severance Benefits Act 1985, the Institute is required to 
pay severance benefits to workers who are retrenched.  The Institute has adopted a ‘pay-as-you-go’ 
approach in dealing with these payments.  With this approach provision is not made for obligations until 
employees are actually retrenched.
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APPENDIX ONE

INFORMATION CENTRE 

Details of Public Education and Outreach Activities 
October 2018 – September 2019



IMA Annual Administrative Report  2018 - 2019

60

SCHOOL VISITS TO THE LIBRARY 
AND TOURS OF THE AQUACULTURE FACILITY AND LABORATORIES:

Harmon High School, Tobago. 
9th October 2018.
18 students visited the IMA for a Tour of the Aquaculture Facility and Library. 

Pinehaven SDA Primary School
11th March 2019. 
30 students visited and received a presentation on “Fish Farming” with the assistance of Fisheries & 
Aquaculture Researcher, Daniel Robinson. They also received a tour of the Aquaculture Facility. 

sChool ouTreACh

Cipriani College of Labour and Cooperative Studies 
31st October 2018
IMA participated at the College’s Health week with assistance from Research Officer, Sheldon Ramoutar. 
A presentation on “The use of bacteria as indicators for human health” was delivered to approximately 
20 students.   

Guaico Presbyterian School 
14th November 2018
35 students and teachers from Standards 2 – 4 Environmental Club received information on ‘Marine 
Pollution’ by presentations delivered.   

Tunapuna Boys’ R.C. Primary School and Malick Girls R.C. Primary School 
16th November 2018
IMA participated in the school’s Career Fair. 150 students received information on the various careers 
offered in Marine Sciences.    

University of Trinidad and Tobago (Chaguaramas Campus)   
21st November 2018. 
IMA participated at the University’s Career Orientation Series by hosting a booth to share information 
on the types of research conducted at the IMA and the various careers offered. Approximately 30 
students visited the IMA’s booth.    

ASJA Girls’ College Barrackpore Career Day 
28th February 2019.
IMA participated at the school’s Career Day by hosting a booth to share information on the various 
careers offered in marine sciences. Approximately 50 students visited the IMA’s booth. 

Bishop Anstey High School - Career Day 
16th May 2019
IMA hosted a booth where 40 students received information on possible careers in Marine Sciences. 

EXHIBITIONS 
Nature Seekers’ Annual Beach Cleanup and Turtle Building Competition
22nd March 2019. Orosco Bay (Matura Beach)
IMA participated by hosting a booth to share information on marine conservation and an estimate of 
250 persons visited the IMA’s booth. 

University of the West Indies – Biological Society – World Water Day/Nature Week
22nd March 2019. 
50 students visited the IMA booth   and information was shared about marine conservation. 
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Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of Business – World Environment Day event 
4th June 2019. Champs Fleurs
IMA participated by hosting a booth to share information relating to Climate Change and Ocean 
Acidification. A total of 25 students/adults visited the IMA’s booth. 

Sagicor General/CNIRD’s Beyond Green Expo 2019 
9th August 2019. Santa Rosa Roman Catholic Church Park, Arima.
Approximately 60 persons visited the IMA’s booth. 

vACATioN CAmPs/ouTreACh

St. Helena Public Library (NALIS) vacation camp 
11th April 2019. 
20 children received a presentation on “Effects of Pollution”. Various other interactive activities were 
carried out with the group with quizzes and games.  

Couva Public Library
11th June 2019 
60 students and 4 adults received information via a presentation on “Leatherback turtles of Trinidad and 
Tobago” and general marine conservation. 

Flying Fish Swim Club Vacation Camp
26th July, 30th July and 7th August 2019. St. Clair. 
A total of 105 students received presentations on Coral Reefs, Marine Mammals and Marine Pollution. 

Good News Vacation Bible School 
31st July 2019. St. Augustine. 
35 students received information on “Marine Mammals” during a presentation. 

COMMUNITY OUTREACH/INFORMATION DISSEMINATION 

Sea & Me Project 2019
The sixteenth year of the Sea and Me Project (WEST) (Carenage and Pt. Cumana and Diego Martin 
Schools ) began on 1st May 2019 and ended on 29th May 2019. The project involved 81 Standard five 
Post-SEA students of five primary schools in the Carenage, Point Cumana and Diego Martin areas. Topics 
covered were Water Education, Marine Mammals, Coral Reefs and Water Safety.
The third year of the Sea & Me 2019 (EAST) (Sangre Grande) was held with the Upper Cumuto Primary 
School, Lower Cumuto Primary School and Cunapo St. Francis Roman Catholic Primary School. Outreach 
sessions were carried out from 30th April - 28th May 2019. A total of 82 students participated in the Sea 
& Me (Sangre Grande) Programme. Topics covered were Water Education, Mangrove Ecosystems, 
Marine Mammals and Coral Reefs. 
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APPENDIX TWO

INFORMATION CENTRE 

IMA Newspaper Articles  
October 2018 – September 2019
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IMA NEWSPAPER ARTICLES/MEDIA RELEASES

• Ramoutar, Sheldon (2018, October 03) “Seafood Safety- Oyster consumption risks.” Newsday 
Tobago. 

• Ramoutar, Sheldon (2018, October 18) “Seafood Safety.” Trinidad Express.

• Barrow, Lorraine (2018, October 29) “Environmental Symposium begins today.” Newsday 
Tobago.

• Barrow, Lorraine (2018, November 01) “Community and school symposium in Tobago.” 
Trinidad Express. 

• Ganaselal, Krystal (Media Release) (2019, January 10). “UWI grad gets IMA Marine Biology 
Award.” Trinidad Express.

• Juman, Rahanna (2019, January 30) “Our Wetlands, our Defence.” Newsday Tobago.

• Juman, Rahanna (2019, January 31) “Our Wetlands, our Defence.” Trinidad Express.

• Juman, Rahanna (2019, February 01) “Our Wetlands, our Defence.” Guardian Tobago Today.

• Doodnath, Lester (2019, March 07) “Carnival of the sea.” Trinidad Express 

• Kanhai, Attish. (2019, March 22) “The untold story of Saharan dust.” Guardian Tobago Today         

• Kanhai, Attish. (2019, March 22) “The untold story of Saharan dust.” Newsday Tobago

• Alexis, Christopher. (2019, April 18) “Beware at the beach.” Trinidad Express 

• Glasgow, Glendon (2019, April 18). “We all protect our species.” Newsday.

• Bullock, Christine (2019 April 19) “Easter beach lime: Ensure benefits no blues.” Guardian 
Tobago Today

• Juman, Rahanna (2019, May 24-26) “Nature declining at unprecedented rate.” Newsday 
Tobago 

• Juman, Rahanna (2019, May 31) “Nature declining urgent need for change.” Guardian 
Tobago Today.

• Juman, Rahanna (2019, June 20) “Nature declining globally at unprecedented rates.” Trinidad 
Express. 

• Bullock, Christine (2019 July 18) “Beach limes have benefits and hazards” Trinidad Express.

• Bullock, Christine. (2019, July 26) “Avoiding the blues.” Guardian Tobago Today 

• Institute of Marine Affairs. (2019, August 30) “Ominous Coral Bleaching Outlook for TT.” 
Guardian Tobago Today 
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APPENDIX THREE

INFORMATION CENTRE 

Social Media Editorial Calendar 
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APPENDIX FOUR

HUMAN RESOURCES AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

WORKSHOPS/CONFERENCES/MEETINGS 
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loCAl  

Seminar:  “KPMG Annual IFRS Update Seminar” 
Venue:   Hyatt Regency
Date:  12th October 2018
Attendee(s): Jameela Karim-Dowlat and Marcia Powell 

Conference:  “The Future of Work is Now Conference”  
Venue:   T&T Chamber of Industry and Commerce
Date:  9th November 2018
Attendee(s): Andre Hanief, Alicia Carter-Fisher and Gyllis Noel

Workshop:  “Technical Report Writing Course” 
Venue:   UTT, Chaguanas Campus
Date:  21st – 23rd November 2018
Attendee(s): Guischard Charles, Daniel Robinson, Sheldon Ramoutar and Alana Jute

Workshop:  “Aquatic Animal Health Training Workshop”
Venue:   UWI, St. Augustine
Date:  21st – 23rd November 2018
Attendee(s): Daniel Robinson, Jerusha King and Sheldon Ramoutar

Workshop:  “Sustainable Environmental Practices for Marinas and Boatyards” 
Venue:   IMA 
Date:  6th February 2019
Attendee(s): Glendon Glasgow and Krystal Ganaselal

Workshop:  “Training on ISO/IEC 17025:2017” 
Venue:   T&T Bureau of Standards 
Date:  11th – 13th February 2019
Attendee(s): Amrit Singh and Kyle Williams  

Workshop:  “Communicating with IFPAMTT ” (Session 1) 
Venue:   FAO, St. Clair 
Date:  20th – 21st February 2019
Attendee(s): Krystal Ganaselal  

Conference:  “Blockchain Breakfast Session”  
Venue:   UWI Arthur Lok Jack
Date:  14th March 2019
Attendee(s): Andre Hanief and Sonny Jitta 

Workshop:  “Effective Business Communication (Writing & Speaking)” 
Venue:   School of Business and Computer Science Limited
Date:  16th April – 21st May 2019
Attendee(s): Tracey Guevara 

Seminar:  “Industrial Relations Advocacy and Representation for Trade Union Officials” 
Venue:   Angostura Limited
Date:  17th – 18th April 2019
Attendee(s): Gyllis Noel 

Workshop:  “Communicating with IFPAMTT ” (Session 2)
Venue:   FAO, St. Clair 
Date:  7th – 8th May 2019
Attendee(s): Krystal Ganaselal  
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Conference:  “Biodiversity Information for Development Caribbean Regional Meeting and 
  Training in Node Management” 
Venue:   UWI, St. Augustine
Date:  25th – 28th June 2019
Attendee(s): Alana Jute

Seminar:  “Addressing Excessive Sick Leave Programme” 
Venue:   Employers Solution Centre
Date:  5th September 2019
Attendee(s): Amelia Williams 

Seminar:  “Industrial Relations for the HR Team of One” 
Venue:   Employers Solution Centre
Date:  10th September 2019
Attendee(s): Nisa Joseph-Browne 

Workshop:  “The Office of Procurement Regulation’s Capacity Building Workshop 2019 –  
  Procurement, Retention and Disposal of Public Property” 
Venue:   Radisson Hotel
Date:  11th – 13th September 2019
Attendee(s): Cyril Best 

Seminar:  “Organisational Culture and Audit Seminar”  
Venue:   Arthur Lok Jack
Date:  12th September 2019 
Attendee(s): Reena Ramdass 

Workshop:  “The Office of Procurement Regulation’s Capacity Building Workshop 2019 –  
  Procurement, Retention and Disposal of Public Property” 
Venue:   Oasis Conference and Banquet Centre
Date:  18th – 20th September 2019
Attendee(s): Glen Stephen 

foreigN 
 
Workshop:  “Regional Marine Litter Experts Workshop on Harmonized Monitoring”
Venue:   Miami, Florida, USA
Date:  18th – 19th October 2018
Attendee(s): Christopher Alexis 

Meeting:  “Fourth Intergovernmental Meeting of the Global Programme of Action for the  
  Protection of the Marine Environment of Land-based Activities” 
Venue:   Bali, Indonesia
Date:  31st October – 1st November 2018
Attendee(s): Ahmad Khan 

Meeting:  “Caribbean Renewable Energy Forum 2018: Blue Economy Caribbean 2018” 
Venue:   Miami, Florida
Date:  6th November 2018
Attendee(s): Wendy Nelson
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Conference:  “Global Sustainable Blue Economy Conference; Blue Economy and the 2030 Agenda  
  for Sustainable Development”
Venue:   Nairobi, Kenya
Date:  26th – 28th November 2018
Attendee(s): Farahnaz Solomon 

Meeting:  “IWEco Research Partners Meeting” 
Venue:  St. Lucia
Date:  27th – 28th November 2018
Attendee(s): Darryl Banjoo

Meeting:      “Caribbean Network for Coastal Risks Related to Climate Change  
  (Carib-Coast Project) Kick-off Meeting” 
Venue:   Gosier, Guadeloupe 
Date:    16th – 17th January 2019 
Attendee(s):  Lester Doodnath  

Workshop:  “Second Indicators Workshop for the Caribbean Marine Atlas”
Venue:   Columbia
Date:  12th – 14th February 2019
Attendee(s): Hamish Asmath 

Workshop:  “2019 Regional Leatherback Bycatch Prioritization Workshop”
Venue:   Paramaribo, Suriname
Date:  17th – 18th March 2019
Attendee(s): Rosemarie Kishore 

Conference:  “2nd Session of the Intergovernmental Conference on an International Legally  
  Binding Instrument under the UN convention on the law of the sea on the   
  Conservation and Sustainable use of Marine Biological Diversity of areas beyond  
   National Jurisdiction”
Venue:   New York, USA
Date:  25th March – 5th April 2019 
Attendee(s): Kahlil Hassanali

Workshop:  “2019 Water and Sanitation Short-term Training Programme” 
Venue:   Beijing, China
Date:  14th – 26th April 2019
Attendee(s): Kyle Williams  

Conference:  “The Seventh Session of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on 
  Biodiversity and Ecosystems Services (IPBES7) and Regional Consultations and  
  Stakeholder Day” 
Venue:   Paris, France
Date:  28th April – 4th May 2019
Attendee(s): Rahanna Juman

Meeting:  “Project Steering Committee (PSC) Meeting to establish the Caribbean Coastal  
  Capital Centre of Excellence (CCCCE)”  
Venue:   Barbados
Date:  15th – 16th May 2019
Attendee(s): Rahanna Juman

Workshop:  “Caribbean Protected Areas Data Management Training Workshop” 
Venue:   Barbados
Date:  20th – 23rd May 2019
Attendee(s): Paul Nelson
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Workshop:  “The Commonwealth Blue Charter Action Group on Ocean Observation Workshop” 
Venue:   Ottawa, Canada
Date:  29th – 30th May 2019
Attendee(s): Kahlil Hassanali

Workshop:  “Global Environment Facility (GEF) Expanded Constituency Workshop (ECW) for the 
   Caribbean Constituency” 
Venue:   St. Lucia
Date:  28th – 31st May 2019
Attendee(s): Lester Doodnath 

Meeting:  “10th Meeting of the Contracting Parties to the Protocol concerning Specially 
  Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW10), 4th Meeting of the Contracting Parties to 
  the Protocol concerning Pollution from Land-Based Sources and Activities (LBS4), 
  15th Meeting of the Contracting Parties to the Convention for the Protection and 
  Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean Region (COP15) 
  and Ministrial-level Blue Economy Summit” 
Venue:   Roatan, Honduras 
Date:  3rd – 7th June 2019
Attendee(s): Darryl Banjoo

Meeting:  “Working Meeting of the Project – Integrated Management for the Sustainability of 
  Caribbean Wetlands” 
Venue:   Panama City, Pamama 
Date:  6th – 7th June 2019
Attendee(s): Farahnaz Solomon

Conference:  “12th International Convention on the Environment and Development and panelist  
  under the theme – Conservation and Sustainable use of Marine Ecosystems” 
Venue:   Havana, Cuba
Date:  1st – 5th July 2019 
Attendee(s): Christopher Alexis

Conference:  “3rd Regional Workshop on Marine Biological Diversity of Areas Beyond National 
   Jurisdiction for Member States of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM)” 
Venue:   Bridgetown, Barbados
Date:  16th – 18th July 2019 
Attendee(s): Kahlil Hassanali

Workshop:  “Drafting Workshop for the Caribbean Marine Atlas New Project Proposal” 
Venue:   Cartagena, Columbia
Date:  22nd – 24th July 2019 
Attendee(s): Hamish Asmath

Conference:  “2nd Regional Consultation Meeting on a Coordination Mechanism and  
  Sustainable Financing Plan for Ocean Governance in the Wider Caribbean Region” 
Venue:   Panama City, Panama
Date:  30th July – 1st August 2019
Attendee(s): Farahnaz Solomon

Workshop:  “Sampling and Preservation of Water and Sediment Samples Course  
  (face-to-face module)” 
Venue:   Sao Paulo, Brazil
Date:  12th – 16th August 2019
Attendee(s): Shane Ramsammy 
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Conference:  “Third Session of the Intergovernmental Conference on an International Legally  
  Binding Instrument under the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea on  
  the Conservation and Sustainable use of Marine Biological Diversity of areas  
  beyond National Jurisdiction” 
Venue:   New York
Date:  19th – 30th August 2019 
Attendee(s): Kahlil Hassanali

Workshop:  “Training Course on Museology and Museum Management” 
Venue:   India
Date:  21st August – 3rd September 2019
Attendee(s): Alana Jute

Meeting:  “High-Level Dialogue on Marine Litter and Waste Management  
  in the Caribbean Region”
Venue:   Belize 
Date:  4th – 6th September 2019
Attendee(s): Darryl Banjoo

HSE Training:  Basic 1st Aid/CPR Course by St. John’s Ambulance Association
Venue:   IMA Auditorium 
Date:   12th – 13th February 2019. 
Attendee (s) : Sheldon Ramoutar, Shane Ramsammy, Addison Titus, Tyronne Walters,    
  Christopher Alexis, Jameela Karim-Dowlat, Jerusha King, Daniel Robinson,    
  Tracey Guevara, Aleisha Dennie, Ashton Jones, Aaron Mohammed, Brent Yates,   
  Amelia Williams, Angel Glasgow, Kahlil Hassanali, Ronald Robinson,     
  Sudesh Ramsamaroo, Paul Nelson, and Krystal Ganaselal
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Hilltop Lane 
Chaguaramas 

Tel: (868) 634-4291 
E-mail: director@ima.gov.tt 


